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I. Introduction

1. Pursuant to Rule 111 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, the Prosecution
hereby files this Appeal Brief containing the submissions of the Prosecution in its
appeal against the Judgement of the Trial Chamber dated 20 June 2007 in Case
No. SCSL-04-16-T, Prosecutor v. Alex Tamba Brima, Brima Bazzy Kamara and
Santigie Borbor Kanu,' as revised pursuant to the Corrigendum issued by the
Trial Chamber on 19 July 2007 (the “Trial Chamber’s Judgement”).

2.  Some authorities and documents are referred to in this Appeal Brief by
abbreviated citations. The full references for these abbreviated citations are given
in Appendix A to this Appeal Brief.

3. The Prosecution’s grounds of appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Judgement are
set out in the Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal, filed on 2 August 2007 (the
“Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal”).’ References below to the Prosecution’s
Grounds of Appeal are to the grounds as set out in the Prosecution’s Notice of
Appeal.

4. The standards of review to be applied by the Appeals Chamber in an appeal
against a judgement of a Trial Chamber are well established in the case law of the
International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia (“ICTY”)* and the
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (“ICTR”). It is submitted that the
same standards of review are applicable under the Statute and Rules of the Special
Court.

5. The remedy requested in each of the Prosecution’s Grounds of Appeal is without
prejudice to the remedies requested by the Prosecution in respect of each of its

other Grounds of Appeal.

SCSL-16-613, Registry page nos. 21465-22096.
SCSL-16-628, Registry page nos. 23025-23678.

SCSL-16-630, Registry page nos. 001-013.

See, for instance, Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Furundfija Appeal Judgement, paras 34-40;
Celebi¢i Appeal Judgement, paras 434-435; Kunarac Appeal Judgement, paras 35-48; Vasiljevic
Appeal Judgement, paras 4-12; Kordi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 13-20; Nikoli¢ Appeal Judgement,
paras 6-9; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 8-24; Marijali¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 15-18.

See, for instance, Semanza Appeal Judgement, paras 7-11; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, paras 6-10;
Musema Appeal Judgement, paras 13-21; Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 178; Kayishema Appeal
Judgement, para. 320.

B
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38
6. In relation to certain of the Prosecution’s Grounds of Appeal, one of the
alternative remedies that the Prosecution seeks is for the Appeals Chamber to
remit the case to the Trial Chamber for further findings of fact on specific issues.’
The Appeals Chamber has the power on appeal to remit limited issues of fact
back to the Trial Chamber, and where it does so, the Trial Chamber has no power
to go beyond determining those limited issues, and cannot conduct a new trial.”
In the present case, it would not be impracticable for the Appeals Chamber to
order this remedy, should this prove to be necessary. All of the issues of fact that
the Prosecution requests (as an alternative remedy) be remitted to the Trial
Chamber are issues that have already been fully briefed and argued by the parties
in their final trial briefs and oral closing submissions. The Trial Chamber could
therefore issue a supplementary judgement making findings of fact on these

limited specified issues without the need for any further proceedings before the

Trial Chamber.

® Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal, paras 8(ii), 14(ii) and 24(ii), and see paragraphs 240, 447(ii), 649 (ii)
below.
7 Celebici Sentencing Appeal Judgement, para. 17.

Prosecutor v. Brima, Kamara and Kanu, SCSL-04-16-A 7
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II. Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal: Failure of the Trial
Chamber to find all three Accused criminally responsible
under Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) for all crimes committed
in Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area

A. Introduction

7.  The Indictment charged all three Accused under both Article 6(1) and Article 6(3)
of the Statute with numerous crimes committed in Bombali District between 1
May 1998 and 30 November 1998,% and in Freetown and the Western Area
between 6 January 1999 and 28 February 1999.°

8.  The Trial Chamber’s findings on whether these crimes were proved to have been
committed (leaving aside the question of the individual responsibility of the three
Accused) are contained, in respect of Bombali District, in paragraphs 880-898,
1027-1041, 1134-1145, 1219-1224, 1351-1363, 1416-1417, and 1542-1573 of the
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, and, in respect of Freetown and the Western Area, in
paragraphs 899-951, 1042-1170, 1225-1243, 1375-1389, 1418-1429, 1574-1612
of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement. Regarding the recruitment and use of child
soldiers, the Trial Chamber’s findings are contained in paragraphs 1244-1258 of
the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, which specifically include findings that the
recruitment and wuse of child soldiers occurred in Bombali District and in

Freetown and the Western Area.'°

® Indictment, para. 48 (Counts 3-5), para. 54 (Counts 6-9), para. 62 (Counts 10-11), para. 70 (Count 13),
para. 78 (Count 14) (for the more limited period of 1 March 1998 to 30 November 1998), and, in relation
to Counts 1 and 2, para. 41 of the Indictment. In relation to Count 12, paragraph 65 of the Indictment
charged all three Accused with criminal responsibility for the recruitment and use of child soldiers “At
all times relevant to this Indictment, throughout the Republic of Sierra Leone”, which included instances
of recruitment and use of child soldiers in Bombali District in this period. In some of these paragraphs of
the Indictment, the end date of the Indictment period was erroneously stated as “31 November 1998

° Indictment, para. 49 (Counts 3-5), para. 56 (Counts 6-9), para. 63 (Counts 10-11), para. 72 (Count 13),
para. 79 (Count 14), and, in relation to Counts 1 and 2, para. 41 of the Indictment. In relation to Count
12, paragraph 65 of the Indictment charged all three Accused with criminal responsibility for the
recruitment and use of child soldiers “At all times relevant to this Indictment, throughout the Republic of
Sierra Leone”, which included instances of recruitment and use of child soldiers in Freetown and the
Western Area in this period.

' Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1253, 1257-1262 and 1277-1278.

Prosecutor v. Brima, Kamara and Kanu, SCSL-04-16-A 8



9. The crimes that were found by the Trial Chamber to have been committed in
Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western Area are referred to below as
the “Bombali District Crimes” and the “Freetown and Western Area Crimes”
respectively. The expressions “Bombali District Crimes” and “Freetown and
Western Area Crimes”, when used below also include all of the crimes committed
in Bombali District or in Freetown and the Western Area that are encompassed
within the Prosecution’s other Grounds of Appeal, to the extent that the other
Grounds of Appeal are upheld."!

10. As set out in further detail below, the Trial Chamber found that the Bombali
District Crimes and the Freetown and Western Area Crimes were committed by
AFRC troops on a massive scale, and in a systematic manner.

11. When considering the individual responsibility of each of the Accused for these
crimes, the Trial Chamber dealt in separate parts of its Judgement with the
responsibility of each Accused for the Bombali District crimes (apart from the
three enslavement crimes),'? for the Freetown and Western Area Crimes (apart
from the three enslavement crimes),'”® and for the three “enslavement
crimes”.'*"

12. In respect of all of these crimes, the findings of the Trial Chamber regarding the
individual responsibility of Brima were as follows. In relation to the three
enslavement crimes the Trial Chamber found that Brima was responsible under

Article 6(1) for all three enslavement crimes in Bombali District and Freetown

""" The expressions “crimes committed in Bombali District” or “crimes committed in Freetown and the
Western Area”, when used below have the corresponding meaning.

The Trial Chamber’s Judgement deals with the responsibility of Brima at paras 1700-1744, 2104, 2113-
2120, of Kamara at paras 1911-1929, 2105, 2117-2120, and of Kanu at paras 2025-2044, 2106, 2121-
2123.

The Trial Chamber’s Judgement deals with the responsibility of Brima at paras 1745-1838, 2104, 2113-
2120, of Kamara at paras 1930-1977, 2105, 2117-2120, and of Kanu at paras 2045-2098, 2106, 2121-
2123,

The Trial Chamber used the expression “enslavement crimes” or “three enslavement crimes” to refer
collectively to the three crimes of (1) enslavement (abductions and forced labour), (2) sexual slavery, and
(3) recruitment and use of child soldiers (see, for instance, Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1824,
1826-1827, 1833, 1834, 1838, 1971-1972, 2089, 2095). The same terminology is used in this Appeal
Brief.

> The Trial Chamber’s Judgement deals with the responsibility of Brima at paras 1662, 1820-1834, 1837-

1838, 2104, 2113, of Kamara at paras 1662, 1870-1976, 2105, and of Kanu at paras 1662, 2089-2098,
2106

2

W

N
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and Western Area,' but declined to make any finding of his liability for these
three crimes under Article 6(3)."” Apart from the three enslavement crimes,
Brima was found to be individually responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute
for all of the Bombali District crimes,18 and all of the Freetown and Western Area
Crimes."” However, he was only found individually responsible under Article
6(1) for either committing or ordering a limited number of the Bombali District
Crimes,” and for committing or ordering a limited number of the Freetown and

21

Western Area Crimes,” as well as aiding and abetting one single killing incident

2 In particular, the Trial Chamber expressly

in Freetown and the Western Area.
found that the Prosecution had “not adduced any evidence that the Accused Brima
planned, instigated or otherwise aided and abetted any of the crimes committed in
the Bombali District”,23 and that “no evidence was adduced that the Accused
Brima planned any crimes under Counts 3 through 6, 10 through 11 and 14 in
Freetown and the Western Area”.**

13.  In respect of all of these crimes, the findings of the Trial Chamber regarding the
individual responsibility of Kamara were as follows. The Trial Chamber failed
to make any findings as to the responsibility of Kamara under either Article 6(1)
or 6(3) for any of the three enslavement crimes in Bombali District or Freetown
and Western Area.”’ Apart from the three enslavement crimes, Kamara was
found to be individually responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for all of the
Bombali District crimes,”® and (in the Prosecution’s submission) for all of the
Freetown and Western Area Crimes.”” However, he was only found liable under

Article 6(1) for ordering one specific incident that occurred in Bombali District

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1835, 1836 and 1837 respectively.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1838.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1721-1744; Sentencing Judgement, para. 42.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1787-1810; Sentencing Judgement, para. 42.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1700-1720. See also Sentencing Judgement, para. 41.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras1746-1786. See also Sentencing Judgement, para. 41.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1786.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1720.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1784,

See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1970-1977; see Sentencing Judgement para. 70

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1928; Sentencing Judgement, para. 71.

See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1950; Sentencing Judgement, para. 71 and see paragraphs 170-
172 below.
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(the killing of five girls in Karina),”® and for aiding and abetting three specific
incidents in Freetown and the Western Area.”’ In particular, the Trial Chamber
found that Kamara was not liable for committing, planning, instigating or
otherwise aiding and abetting any of the Bombali District Crimes,*® and by
implication, that he was not responsible for ordering any of the Bombali District
Crimes other than the killing of five girls in Karina.’! The Trial Chamber also
found that Kamara was not liable for having ordered, planned or instigated any of
the Frectown and Western Area Crimes,32 and by implication, that he was not
liable for having aided and abetted any of the Freetown and Western Area Crimes
other than in respect of three specific incidents.”

14. In respect of all of these crimes, the findings of the Trial Chamber in respect of
the individual responsibility of Kanu were as follows. The Trial Chamber found
Kanu responsible under Article 6(1) for the three enslavement crimes in Bombali
District and (in the Prosecution’s submission) for the three enslavement crimes in
both Freetown and Western Area,”* but failed to make any express finding as to
Kanu’s liability under Article 6(3) for these crimes.”> Apart from the three
enslavement crimes, Kanu was found to be individually responsible under Article
6(3) of the Statute for all of the Bombali District Crimes,”® and (in the
Prosecution’s submission) for all of the Freetown and Western Area Crimes.”’
However, the Trial Chamber found that Kanu was not liable for committing,
ordering, instigating or otherwise aiding and abetting any of the Bombali District

Crimes,”® or of planning any of the Bombali District Crimes other than the three

28

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1915-1916. See also Sentencing Judgement, para. 70.

29 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1934-1935, 1939-1940, and 1941 respectively.

30 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1914, 1917-1918, 1920.

31 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1915-1916.

32 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1937.

33 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1939-1941.

3 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2096-2098; Sentencing Judgement, para 94; and see paragraphs
178-182 below.

The title above para. 2089 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement indicates that the Trial Chamber in the
relevant section of its Judgement only considered Kanu’s liability for the three enslavement crimes under
Article 6(1).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2044; Sentencing Judgement, para. 95.

See paragraphs 178-182 below.

3% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2028, 2030-2031.

35

36
37
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enslavement crimes.” In respect of the Freetown and Western Area Crimes, the

Trial Chamber found Kanu individually responsible under Article 6(1) for

committing amputations of three victims,* looting one vehicle,!' ordering three

specific incidents,*? and for instigating the killing of an unspecified number of
victims.*® By implication, the Trial Chamber found that Kanu was not liable for
ordering, instigating or aiding and abetting any of the other Freetown and Western

Area Crimes, and expressly found that he was not responsible for planning any of

the Freetown and Western Area Crimes other than the three enslavement crimes.**

15. The Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal is that the Trial Chamber erred in law
and in fact:

(1) in not finding Brima, Kamara and Kanu each individually responsible, under
Article 6(1) of the Statute, of planning, instigating, ordering, or otherwise
aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation or execution of all Bombali
District Crimes and, Freetown and Western Area Crimes; and

(2) in not finding Brima, Kamara and Kanu each individually responsible, under
Article 6(3) of the Statute, for all Bombali District Crimes and, Frectown
and Western Area Crimes.

16. The Prosecution submits that on the Trial Chamber’s findings, or alternatively, on
the Trial Chamber’s findings and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber in
making those findings, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is
that all of the Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and Western Area Crimes
were committed as part of a single planned and systematic campaign. (See
Section B below.) The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law
and in fact in considering only the individual responsibility of each of the
Accused for specific aspects of, or specific incidents occurring within that
planned and systematic attack and campaign, and in failing to consider the

individual responsibility of each Accused for planning, instigating, ordering, and

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2029.
“ Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2050, 2053-2055.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2057.
42 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2058, 2060-2061.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2063.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2062.
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otherwise aiding and abetting the campaign of crimes as a whole. (See Section C

below.) The Prosecution submits that on the Trial Chamber’s findings, or

alternatively, on the Trial Chamber’s findings and the evidence accepted by the

Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is:

(1) that each of the three Accused is individually responsible under Article 6(1)
for planning, instigating, ordering, or otherwise aiding and abetting that
campaign of crimes as a whole (see Sections D, E and F below); and

(2) that each of the three Accused is individually responsible under Article 6(3)

for that campaign of crimes as a whole (see Section G below).

B. The campaign in Bombali District and Freetown and the

Western Area

17. The Trial Chamber found that in April/May 1998, various AFRC commanders
met with SAJ Musa in Krubola/Kurubonla, in Koinadugu District.*> The purpose
of the meeting was “to discuss the future and develop a new military strategy”.46
The Trial Chamber expressly found that it was agreed at that meeting that AFRC
troops who had recently arrived in Koinadugu District from Kono District"’
“should act as an advance troop which would establish a base in north western
area Sierra Leone in preparation for an attack on F reetown”.*®

18. The Trial Chamber further found that Brima was at that meeting in Koinadugu
District, at which it was agreed that Brima would lead the advance team north east

to establish an AFRC base in Bombali District, and that SAJ Musa and his troops

46
47
43

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 190, 1551, 1924. Different witnesses recalled this meeting to have
been held at either Mongor Bendu, or at a place known as either “Krubola” or “Kurubonla” (Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, footnote 736, and see also footnote 337). The actual location is immaterial, but it
is evident from later references to this meeting by the Trial Chamber that the Trial Chamber found it to
have been held in Krubola/Kurubonla: Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1551, 1924.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 190 (and see also para. 379).

As to which, see Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 189.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 190 (emphasis added) (and see also paras 369, 379, 1551).
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would follow later.** In Mansofinia (in Koinadugu District), Brima subsequently
addressed the AFRC troops, and said that “We are going back to Freetown”.”

19. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber therefore found, or alternatively,
that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact from the Trial
Chamber’s findings and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber, is that a
single overall plan was formulated at a meeting in Koinadugu District in
April/May 1998. This plan was that an advance team led by Brima would go
from Koinadugu District to Bomabli District and establish an AFRC base there,
that the advance team would subsequently be joined there by another group of
AFRC troops led by SAJ Musa, and that from that base in Bombali District the
combined AFRC troops would then attack Freetown.

20. The Trial Chamber’s findings establish that this plan was carried into effect. The
Trial Chamber found that about three days after the meeting at which the plan was
adopted, an AFRC advance team under the overall control of Brima left
Mansofinia in Koinadugu District, and travelled to Camp Rosos in Bombali
District,”' via a route that passed various locations in Kono District, Koinadugu
District and Bombali District.”* In respect of the Criminality of this Campaign,
the Appeals Chamber is referred to the other paragraphs of this ground dealing
with the Mansofinia Address. This journey took about 3 months, and the advance
team arrived in Camp Rosos in about July 1998.> Some time between July and
August 1998, the advance team was joined at Camp Rosos by a second group of
AFRC troops, under the command of someone named “O—Five”,54 who had been
sent from Koinadugu District by SAJ Musa.”> After they had been in Camp

Rosos for about 3 months, due to attacks on them by ECOMOG forces, the AFRC

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 379 makes this clear. See also ibid., para. 1551 referring to the
evidence of George Johnson that at Mansofinia in April 1998, Brima and Kanu told Kamara “that the
troops should be restructured and that a camp, later Camp Rosos, should be made at the Bombali Axis”.
The Trial Chamber found (ibid., para. 370) that the witness George Johnson was “generally credible and
reliable”.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1694 (referring to the evidence of witness TF1-033), and paras 1693,
1995 and 238, indicating that the Trial Chamber accepted the evidence of this witness.

! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 378, 381, 1548.

32 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 192, 381, 1548.

> Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 192, 384.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 382.

> Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 196, 382.
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troops moved to another base at “Colonel Eddie Town” in about September
1998.°° Subsequently, in about October 1998, SAJ Musa himself left Koinadugu
District, “to join the advance team and prepare for an attack on Freetown™;’ he
arrived in Colonel Eddie Town in November 1998.°® In about December 1998,
the AFRC troops then began their advance towards Freetown, passing through
several locations,59 and ultimately invaded Freetown on 6 January 1999.%°

21. The AFRC troops remained in Freetown for about 3 weeks, this period being
known as the “Freetown invasion”.’’ In the period immediately following the
Freetown retreat, the AFRC forces reorganised and established bases in the
Western Area, including Newton and Benguema, where they remained until early
1999.°%  After this, the AFRC troops divided into two, with one group going to
Kenema in Bombali District, and the other to Port Loko District.®

22. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber therefore found, or alternatively,
that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact on the Trial
Chamber’s findings and the evidence that if accepted is, that all of the operations
of the AFRC from the time that they left Mansofinia until and including the
Freetown invasion constituted a single operation pursuant to the plan that was
made at the meeting in Koinadugu District attended by SAJ Musa and Brima.
This operation is referred to below as the “Bombali-Freetown Campaign”. It is
further submitted that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is
that the Freetown retreat and subsequent regrouping of the AFRC troops in the
Western Area formed part of the same Bombali-Freetown Campaign, in the sense
that the campaign continued but under the changed circumstance that the AFRC
troops found that they were unable to hold Freetown. This is evident from the

fact that after the Freetown retreat, when the AFRC forces were regrouped in the

56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 193, 384, 1548.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 197 (also para. 1548).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 198, 1548.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 198.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 202.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 204-205.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 208, 421.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 208.
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Western Area, they launched a second attack on Freetown which was

unsuccessful.**

23. The Trial Chamber found that throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, from
the time that the AFRC forces left Mansofinia in Koinadugu District until they
left the Western Area after the Freetown retreat, they committed massive crimes
in a systematic manner.

24. The Trial Chamber found that during the journey of the AFRC advance team from
Mansofinia to Camp Rosos, “the civilian population was routinely targeted and
attacked by soldiers and fighters on that route” in a large number of different
locations.®® The Trial Chamber’s Judgement makes findings about horrific crimes
that were committed by the AFRC advance team in locations such as Bornoya,”
Karina,” Mateboi,”® and Gbendembu.®’ The Trial Chamber found that “the
evidence establishes a consistent pattern of attack against the civilian population
during this time”.”% The Trial Chamber further found that “the occurrence of the
crimes was widespread and involved a typical modus operandi of attacks against
civilians”,”" and noted the “frequency and pattern” of these crimes.”” The Trial
Chamber also found that none of the civilians in the attacked villages were armed,
that the villages were not military targets, and that the AFRC did not attack them
in order to gain territory, since after each village was attacked, “the troops moved
on to the next village”, where the attacks continued.” Tt found further that these
crimes “were carried out in the context of a series of attacks in which civilians

were deliberately targeted for allegedly failing to sufficiently support the
AFRC”,* and that the primary purpose of these attacks was “to spread terror

64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 421, 473, 476, 621.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 192, 1548.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 883-885.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 8§86-894.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 895.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras §96.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1549.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1731.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1731.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1569.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1568.
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among the civilian popula‘cion”75 and to collectively punish persons “for allegedly
supporting the President Ahmed Tejan Kabbah”.”

75 The Trial Chamber also found that during this journey, “the troops were
accompanied ... by hundreds of civilians abducted from targeted villages”.”” The
Trial Chamber in particular found that during this period the AFRC troops kept
women in sexual slavery,”® abducted children for military purposes and us ed
child soldiers,” and abducted civilians and used them for forced labour and
forced them to undergo military training.®’

26. When the AFRC troop arrived in Camp Rosos, the commission of crimes by the
AFRC troops continued there.®! There was also evidence of crimes committed at
Colonel Eddie Town, after the AFRC troops subsequently moved there.*

27. During the Freetown invasion and Freetown retreat, and subsequently in the
Western Area, massive crimes were found to have been committed by the AFRC
troops.” The Trial Chamber also found that during this period the AFRC troops
kept women in sexual slavery,® abducted large numbers of civilians and used
them for forced labour,®® abducted children for military purposes and used child
soldiers.®® The Trial Chamber found that the crimes committed in this period

“were part of a planned and deliberate attack ... in which protected persons were

75
76
7
78
79
80
81

82

83

84

85
86

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1571.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1573.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 193.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1134-1145.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1252-1254, 1256-1258, 1271, 1277.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1363.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 895, 896, 1565-1566 (killings), 1031-1040, 1567 (rapes),
(mutilations), 1252, 1254, 1717-1719 (abducting children for military purposes and forcing them to
undergo military training), 1360-1363, 1822 (abduction of civilians and using them as forced labour and
requiring them to undergo military training), 1569 (stating generally that “Once the troops arrived in
Camp Rosos the attacks continued against civilians in the area”), 1568, 1569. See also paras 1222-1224
(mutilations).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1271 (child soldiers), 1821-1824 (enslavement-labour); Prosecution
Final Trial Brief, para. 1548.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 902-951 (killings), 1061-1067 (rapes), 1429 (looting), 1229-1243
(mutilations). The Trial Chamber found that during the Freetown retreat, the AFRC forces were
responsible for “massive civilian casualties” (ibid., para. 207).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1150-1170.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1389.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1277-1278, 1577, 1783.
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specifically targeted”.87 As in the case of the crimes committed during the journey
from Mansofinia to Camp Rosos, these crimes were found by the Trial Chamber
to have been carried out with the primary purpose of spreading terror among the
civilian popula‘tion,88 and to collectively punish protected persons for allegedly
supporting the Kabbah government, ECOMOG, or other factions aligned to the
Kabbah government, or for failing to support the AFRC/RUF.*

78 The Trial Chamber further found that at Mansofinia, just before the AFRC troops
were about to embark on the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, Brima gave an
address to the AFRC troops (the “Mansofinia Address”). The Trial Chamber
found that in this address, Brima declared “Operation Spare No Soul” and
instructed troops to kill, maim or amputate any civilian with whom they came into
contact, and that towns and villages were to be burned and women and girls were
“free to satisfy [the soldier’s] sexual desires”.”® In this address, Brima also stated
that civilians had been involved in attacking the AFRC, and that “the AFRC
should now do the same to civilians”.”’

29. As to the ongoing criminality of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, the Trial
Chamber found that again two days prior to the attack on Freetown, at Orugu
village or Allen Town,”” Brima met with commanders and addressed the troops
(the “Orugu Address”). At this meeting, Brima gave a general order that
Freetown should be looted and burnt down, and that anyone who opposed the
AFRC troops should be considered a collaborator and should be killed,” and
stated that “the Sierra Leone People’s Party government was responsible for
denying the success of the rebel tI‘OOpS”.94 The Trial Chamber’s findings as to
how the Orugu Address was implemented by the troops under Brima’s command

are dealt with below.

87
88
89
90
9N
92

93
94

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1609.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1610.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1611-1612.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 238, 1550, 1552, 1691-1695, 1725, 1830.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1693.

One witness said that this event occurred at Orugu village, and another at Allen Town. The Trial Chamber
was “satisfied that both witnesses were referring to the same meeting as very little distance separates the
two locations”: Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 399.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 398-399, 402, 473,532, 614-615, 902, 1580, 1773, 1790, 1945, 2068.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1580.
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30. The Prosecution submits that from these findings, or alternatively on the basis of
these findings and the evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making these
findings, it could not be open to any reasonable trier of fact to conclude that any
of the crimes committed during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign were isolated
incidents. The only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that the
crimes committed in the single operation referred to in this brief as the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign were an integral part of the plan for the Bombali-Freetown
Campaign, and were committed in execution of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.
On the findings of the Trial Chamber, the AFRC (or at least Brima), as he
indicated in the Mansofinia Address, had another name for this operation, namely

“Qperation Spare No Soul”.”

C. The errors in the approach of the Trial Chamber to the
evaluation of Article 6(1) liability

31. The approach taken by the Trial Chamber in determining the Article 6(1) liability
of the three Accused for these crimes is apparent from the structure of the sections
of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement dealing with their individual responsibility for
these crimes.”® It can be seen that the Trial Chamber, when considering the
Article 6(1) liability of each Accused, looked at each District in which crimes
were committed separately. In respect of each separate District, the Trial
Chamber then considered each Article 6(1) mode of liability separately. In
respect of each Article 6(1) mode of liability, the Trial Chamber then considered
separately individual crimes or incidents that it had previously found in the
Judgement to have been committed. In respect of each such individual crime or
incident, the Trial Chamber then sought to determine whether there was any

evidence specifically relating to that particular Article 6(1) mode of liability for

% Trjal Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1693.

% The Article 6(1) liability of Brima for the Bombali District Crimes and the Freetown and Western Area
crimes is dealt with in the Trial Chamber’s Judgement in paragraphs 1701 to 1720, and 1746 to 1786,
respectively; the Article 6(1) liability of Kamara for these crimes is dealt with in paragraphs 1912 to
1920, and 1930 to 1941, respectively, and the Article 6(1) liability of Kanu for these crimes is dealt with
in paragraphs 2026 to 2031, and 2046 to 2064, respectively.
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that particular Accused in relation to that specific crime or incident. In these
sections of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, the Trial Chamber in fact only deals
with those specific crimes or incidents for which it considered that there was
evidence relating a particular Article 6(1) mode of liability for that particular
Accused in relation to that specific incident. Other incidents are simply not
mentioned at all in this part of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

32.  An example of this approach can be seen in the Trial Chamber’s treatment of the
Article 6(1) liability of Brima for the Bombali District Crimes. The Article 6(1)
liability of Brima for the Bombali District Crimes is contained in paragraphs 1703
to 1720 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement. Under the mode of liability
“committing”, the Trial Chamber gave consideration to one single incident only,
namely the killing of 12 civilians in a mosque in Karina.”” The Trial Chamber did
not expressly address at all whether Brima was individually responsible for
“committing” any of the other Bombali District Crimes. Under the mode of
liability “ordering”, the Trial Chamber gave consideration to four incidents only,
namely the giving of an order to terrorise and kill the civilian population at
Karina,”® the giving of an order to terrorise the civilian population around
Rosos,” the giving of an order for killings at Mateboi and Gbendembu,'” and the
giving of an order to recruit children for military purposes.101 The Trial Chamber
did not expressly address at all whether Brima was individually responsible for
“ordering” any of the other Bombali District Crimes. The Trial Chamber also
found that Brima was individually responsible for “planning” the three
enslavement crimes in Bombali District.'” By implication, the Trial Chamber
found that Brima was not responsible for committing, ordering or planning any of
the other Bombali District Crimes, and the Trial Chamber expressly held that “the

Prosecution has not adduced any evidence that the Accused Brima planned,

97 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1703-1709 (Brima was found responsible for this).

% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1710-1711 (Brima was found responsible for this).

% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1712-1713 (Brima was found responsible for this for issuing orders
specifically intended to terrorise the civilian population).

100 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1714-1716 (Brima was found responsible for this).

11 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1717-1719 (Brima was found responsible for this).

102 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1820-1837.
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instigated or otherwise aided and abetted any of the crimes committed in Bombali
District”.'”?

33. The Trial Chamber adopted a similar approach in determining the Article 6(1)
responsibility of Brima for the Freetown and Western Area Crimes, and the
Article 6(1) responsibility of Kamara and Kanu for the Bombali District Crimes
and the Freetown and Western Area Crimes. Indeed, the Trial Chamber adopted
the same approach in relation to determining the Article 6(1) responsibility for all
Accused in respect of all crimes which the Trial Chamber found to have been
committed in the part of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement dealing with the
individual responsibility of the Accused.'™

34. In short, the approach of the Trial Chamber involved a rather myopic examination
of individual incidents and individual modes of liability under Article 6(1), in
which the Trial Chamber only found an Accused individually responsible under
Article 6(1) in cases where there was direct evidence relating specifically to a
particular Article 6(1) mode of liability of a particular Accused in respect of a
specific crime or incident. The Prosecution submits that this approach of the Trial
Chamber to the evaluation of the evidence of Article 6(1) liability was wrong in
law and in fact for a number of reasons.

35. The first reason why the Trial Chamber’s approach is erroneous is that it
implicitly assumes that liability under Article 6(1) will only exist where there is
evidence that an Accused specifically planned, instigated, ordered, committed or
otherwise aided and abetted a specific crime or incident.

36. In some cases, of course, an Accused may well plan, instigate, order, or otherwise
aid and abet a specific crime or incident. For example, in the middle of a large
scale atrocity in which many victims are killed, an Accused may give a specific
order to kill one person. That one specific order, considered in isolation, may

well establish the Article 6(1) responsibility of the Accused for ordering the

193 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1720 (emphasis added). The reference in this quote to there being
no evidence that the Prosecution planned any of the crimes committed in Bombali District obviously
excludes the enslavement crimes, which are dealt with separately in paragraphs 1820-1837 of the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement.

14 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, Part X1, “Responsibility of the Accused”, paras 1635-2098.
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killing of only that one victim out of the large number of victims that were killed
in the atrocity as a whole.

37. However, an Accused can also order or instigate the large scale atrocity itself. In
such a case, the Accused will be liable under Article 6(1) for ordering or
instigating the killing of all of the victims who died in the atrocity.'”® In a case
such as this, the order or act of instigation may be of a general nature, not specific
to any particular location or time. To give a hypothetical example, an order given
by the leader of a country to kill all members of a particular ethnic group and to
destroy their villages may lead to a large number of attacks on different towns and
villages over a protracted period of time. It cannot be said that the accused in
such a case did not order or instigate all of the ensuing attacks and the crimes
committed during these attacks, merely because the order or instigation was not
specific to the particular locations or times in which the attacks were committed,
or merely because the accused, at the time of the order or instigation, was not in a
position to know precisely what locations would be attacked, or when, or which
particular individuals would become victims, as a result of the ensuing attacks.'®

38. Similarly, in cases where an accused, for instance “plans” such a large scale and
widespread atrocity, it is not necessary, in order for the accused to be individually
responsible under Article 6(1) for planning, that the Accused also personally
planned the details of every individual attack that was to occur, or each specific
individual who was to be a victim, in the execution of the plan. It is sufficient
that the Accused “designed” the commission of the atrocity as a whole, and that
the crimes were actually committed by others “within the framework of that

ol
design”. o7

105 See, for example, Nahimana Trial Judgement, in which an accused was found, through broadcasts on
the radio station RTLM, to have instigated the entire widespread and systematic attack against the Tutsi
population that occurred in 1994. See, for instance, the following paragraphs of that judgement: paras
486-488, 949-950, 970-977A, 1057-1062, especially paras 1062 (“Both Kangura and RTLM instigated
killings on a large-scale ), 1063 (“For RTLM broadcasts in 1994 that caused the killing of Tutsi
civilians, the Chamber finds Nahimana guilty of crimes against humanity (extermination) under Article
3(b), pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute of the Tribunal”), 1081.

See also paragraph 124 below.

Gali¢ Trial Judgement, para. 168; Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 480; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 279; Kordi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 386.

106
107
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39.  The Prosecution submits that the approach of the Trial Chamber, by focusing too
narrowly on specific Article 6(1) modes of liability in specific locations, failed to
appreciate the legal consequences of each Accused’s conduct as a whole. An
example that demonstrates this is the treatment given by the Trial Chamber to the
Mansofinia Address, in which Brima, at the outset of the Bombali-Freetown
Campaign, announced the launch of “Operation Spare No Soul”. The Trial
Chamber found that in this address, Brima announced to the AFRC troops that
they were “going back to Freetown”, and instructed troops to kill, maim or
amputate any civilian with whom they came into contact, and that towns and
villages were to be burned and women and girls were free to satisfy the soldier’s
sexual desires.'®® Indeed, through the use of his phrase “minus you, plus you”, he
threatened any of the AFRC troops who did not comply with this order with
death.'”

40. The Prosecution submits that the only conclusion that could be drawn by any
reasonable trier of fact from the Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the
Mansofinia Address is that the instruction that Brima gave was intended by
Brima, and was clearly understood by the AFRC troops, as applying to the whole
of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign. This conclusion is reinforced, for instance,
by the Trial Chamber’s finding that at Kamagbengbe, prior to the arrival of the
AFRC troops at Rosos, a number of civilian abductees who had tried to escape
were immediately executed by Brima’s subordinates, on the basis of the order
given by Brima in the Mansofinia Address.''® Indeed, the Trial Chamber
expressly found that Brima’s orders “remained effective and applicable to

.. . .o 1
incidents that occurred some time after their issuance”.!!!

108

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1693-1694 (referring to the evidence of TF1-033), and 1695 (in
which the Trial Chamber clearly accepts this evidence). It is absolutely clear that the Trial Chamber
accepted this evidence also in paragraph 238 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

199 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 592-593, 618, 1550, 1691.

9 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1725.

1" Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1725.
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41. Notwithstanding this express finding, the Trial Chamber failed to find that Brima
had ordered the killing of these civilians at Kamagbengbe,112 and failed to even
address whether Brima, by giving the Mansofinia Address, had ordered or
instigated any or all of the other crimes that were committed during the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign.

42. The second reason why the Trial Chamber’s approach is erroneous is that in parts
of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement at least, there is an apparent failure to
appreciate that a single act (or omission) of an Accused may constitute an Article
6(1) mode of liability in relation to more than one crime. For instance, by giving
an order to commit one crime, an accused may at the same time also be
instigating the commission of other crimes.

43. The third reason why the Trial Chamber’s approach is erroneous is that in some
instances the Trial Chamber failed to appreciate the legal significance of conduct
of the Accused which the Trial Chamber found to have been proved. To give an
example, the Trial Chamber found that Brima ordered two AFRC commanders to
attack Gbendembu (in Bombali District). After this attack had been carried out,
one of the commanders reported back to Brima that Gbendembu had been
attacked and that the troops had captured arms and ammunition and killed 25
civilians. Brima commended the commander on “a job well done”.'  The
Prosecution submits that the giving of such an approving commendation to troops
for committing this crime is clearly at the very least evidence of ins’ciga‘[ing.g”4
and/or aiding and abetting the troops in the commission of similar crimes in the
future.'

44. Similarly, the Trial Chamber found that an order given by Brima at Rosos

“created a climate of criminality which endured in the months following the

> The paragraphs of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement dealing with Brima’s responsibility for ordering
crimes in Bombali district (paras 1710-1719) make no mention of the killing of these civilians in
Kamagbengbe.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 896, 1564, 1715.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 769: “Both acts and omissions may constitute instigating which
covers express as well as implied conduct.”

Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 337; Celebici Trial Judgement, para. 341. See the findings in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement on applicable law, para. 777 (aiding and abetting).

1
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45.

46.

47.

order”.!'® The Prosecution submits that the creation of such a ‘“climate of

criminality” that endured for months is clearly at the very least evidence of the
instigation and/or aiding and abetting of all of the crimes committed by the AFRC
troops in those ensuing months.!'” Yet the Trial Chamber expressly found that
there was no evidence that Brima instigated or aided and abetted amy of the
crimes in Bombali District.''® The Prosecution submits that it is clearly erroneous
for the Trial Chamber to find that there was no evidence.

The fourth reason why the Trial Chamber’s approach is erroneous is that the Trial
Chamber appears to have proceeded on the assumption that it was only able to
find an Accused to have satisfied the elements of one single Article 6(1) mode of
liability in respect of a given crime. Thus, in respect of each crime of which an
Accused was found to be individually responsible under Article 6(1), if the Trial
Chamber found that the Accused was individually responsible for, say, “ordering”
the crime, it declined to make any finding of whether the Accused also planned,
instigated or aided and abetted that crime.

By way of example, the Trial Chamber found that Brima was individually
responsible under Article 6(1) for “ordering” certain specific crimes in Bombali
District,'' but then failed to give any detailed consideration to whether Brima had
also planned, instigated or aided and abetted those particular crimes. It simply
stated, with no analysis or reasoning, that there was not “any evidence” that
Brima had planned, ordered or instigated those crimes.'*°

The Prosecution acknowledges that where an accused is found on the evidence to
satisfy more than one Article 6(1) mode of liability in respect of a particular
crime, the disposition of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement need not necessarily
enter a formal conviction against the accused in respect of all of those modes of

liability in respect of that crime.'”' For instance, the Trial Chamber found that

ie6

117

118
119
120
121

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1713.
Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 337; Celebiéi Trial Judgement, para. 341. See also Trial Chamber’s

Judgement, paras 769 and 777

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1720.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1710-1719.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1720.

Staki¢ Trial Judgement, paras 443, 445; Krsti¢ Trial Judgement, paras 601-602; Blaski¢ Trial
Judgement, paras 278 and 282.
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where an accused is found guilty of having committed a crime, he or she cannot at
the same time be convicted of having planned the same crime,'? even though his
or her involvement in the planning may be considered an aggravating factor.'??
Similarly, there is case law to the effect that a conviction for ordering a particular
crime will not be entered where the accused has committed the same crime.'**
However, this does not prevent the Trial Chamber, in its findings in the body of
its Judgement, from holding that the evidence satisfied the requirements of more
than one Article 6(1) mode of liability for a particular crime. Where the
requirements of more than one Article 6(1) mode of liability are satisfied for a
particular crime, the Trial Chamber may convict the accused under one Article
6(1) mode of liability only, but then take into account in sentencing that other
Article 6(1) modes of liability were also established for that crime. Thus, for
instance, if an accused is convicted of committing a crime, the fact that the
accused also planned the crime can be taken into account as an aggravating factor
in sentencing.'*

48. Tt follows from this that if an Accused satisfies more than one Article 6(1) mode
of liability in respect of a particular crime, the Trial Chamber should make
express findings to that effect in its reasoning in the body of its Judgement. This
is because if an accused is convicted for a particular crime on the basis of one
Article 6(1) mode of liability only, without any finding as to whether the accused
also satisfied any other Article 6(1) mode of liability in respect of that particular
crime, any other modes of liability that are satisfied cannot be taken into account
in sentencing. Furthermore, if an Accused is found guilty on one Article 6(1)
mode of liability (say “ordering), without any findings being made by the Trial
Chamber in respect of other Article 6(1) modes of liability, this creates potential
problems on appeal. If in such a case, the Appeals Chamber decided on appeal

that the elements of “ordering” were not satisfied, the conviction would be

2

N
[

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 767. Rule 98 Decision, para. 285, referring to Kordi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 386; see also Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 268.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 767; Staki¢ Trial Judgement, para. 443.

Staki¢ Rule 98bis Decision, para. 109; Staki¢ Trial Judgement, para. 445; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement,
paras 278 and 282.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 767; Staki¢ Trial Judgement, para. 443.
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quashed, without any consideration having been given to whether the Accused
satisfied any other Article 6(1) mode of liability in respect of that crime.

49. This conclusion is in fact supported by the way that the Trial Chamber itself dealt
with the Article 6(1) liability of Brima for the three enslavement crimes. The
Trial Chamber ultimately found that Brima was individually responsible for

126 However, in the course of its

“planning” the three enslavement crimes.
reasoning, it also found that Brima had “ordered” these crimes,'?’ and although
the Trial Chamber does not say so expressly, it appears from the Judgement that
the Trial Chamber also considered that in relation to the three enslavement crimes

Brima satisfied the elements of “instigating”,128 “aiding and abetting”,'” and even

“committing”.'*’

50. In short, the Prosecution submits that it is always a question of fact, to be
determined on the basis of all of the evidence in the case as a whole, and all of
the conduct of the Accused as a whole, as to precisely what crimes were
committed pursuant to orders of an accused, and what crimes were instigated,
planned or aided and abetted by an accused. The Prosecution submits that the
Trial Chamber erred in failing to consider all of the evidence in this case as a
whole, and the conduct of each of the Accused as a whole, when determining the
Article 6(1) liability of each of the Accused in respect of all of the Bombali
District Crimes and Freetown and Western Area Crimes. The Trial Chamber
further failed to consider all modes of liability under Article 6(1) in its findings,

which might have impacted on the sentencing of the three Accused as aggravating

factors.

126
127
128

]

129
130

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1835-1837.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1834, 1717-1719, 1783.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1829 (“The Trial Chamber has found that, on a number of occasions,
the Accused Brima publicly addressed the troops and advocated criminal conduct”).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1827, 1834 (“his contribution was substantial”).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1834 (“The Trial Chamber is satisfied that the
Accused...implemented the system to abduct and enslave civilians...”); see also para. 1827 (“the
Accused Brima...designed the commission of the three crimes (enslavement, sexual slavery and
recruitment and use of child soldiers) and ... although these crimes were largely committed by his
subordinates, his contribution was substantial” (emphasis added).
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The individual Article 6(1) responsibility of Brima for the
Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and the Western Area
Crimes

(i). Planning

51 The Trial Chamber found (correctly it is submitted), that “planning” implies that
one or several persons contemplate designing the commission of a crime at both

131 Unlike the case of conspiracy, a crime

the preparatory and execution phases.
can be planned by a single individual,'** and there is therefore no requirement to
plead or prove that any other person planned the crime together with the accused.
The existence of the plan may be proved by circumstantial evidence.'”’
Responsibility is incurred when the level of the accused’s participation is
substantial, even when the crime is actually committed by another person.13 *Itis
sufficient to demonstrate that the planning was a factor substantially contributing
to such criminal conduct.’** The mens rea requires that the accused acted with
direct intent in relation to his or her own planning, or with the awareness of the
substantial likelihood that a crime would be committed in the execution of that
plan. Planning with such awareness has to be regarded as accepting that crime."®
52. The Prosecution has submitted above'?’ that on the findings of the Trial Chamber,
or alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the
Trial Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact
is that the Bombali-Freetown Campaign was a planned operation, and that the
commission of crimes was an integral part of that plan and operation.

53 The Prosecution further submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or

alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial

131

132
133

134
135
136
137

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 765 and the authorities there cited; Rutaganda Trial Judgement,
para. 37; Naletili¢ and Martinovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 59.

Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 480.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 765 and the authority there cited; Naletili¢ and Martinovi¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 59.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 765 and the authority there cited.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 766 and the authority there cited.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 766 and the authorities there cited.

See paragraphs 22 and 30 above.
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Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Brima, together with others, planned the entire Bombali-Freetown Campaign,
including the commission of widespread and systematic atrocities as part of that
plan.

54 The Prosecution submits that this follows from the following findings in

particular.

55  The Trial Chamber found that Brima was the overall commander of the AFRC

138 that he was

advance team that travelled from Mansofinia to Bombali District,
the overall commander of the troops in Freetown, - and that he continued to be in
a superior-subordinate relationship with the AFRC troops that committed crimes
in Freetown even after the AFRC Headquarters was dislodged from State
House.'”® The only period in which he was not the overall commander was
during an indeterminate (but relatively brief) period between his arrest in Colonel
Eddie Town until the death of SAJ Musa on 23 December 1998 (shortly before
the Freetown invasion began).141

56. Brima was one of those who participated in the meeting with SAJ Musa in
Krubola/Kurubonla, held “to discuss the future and develop a new military

strategy”’, 142

and at which the Bombali-Freetown Campaign was planned.143 The
participants at this meeting “defined the new objectives of the AFRC rebel
movement”.'* The necessary implication is that this meeting was a strategic
planning meeting, at which the overall strategic plan and objectives of the
Bombali-Freetown campaign were decided upon.

57  When he was in Mansofinia, immediately prior to the commencement of the
Bombali-Freetown Campaign, Brima, in front of all the soldiers, restructured the

troops, made promotions and delineated the responsibilities of the various

commanders'®’. This is when Brima gave the Mansofinia Address. The Trial

138
139
140

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 378, 383.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1789.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1805.

14l Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 198-201, 388, 420, 472, 601, 602.
42 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 190 (and see also para 379).

See paragraph 17 above; Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 190, 1551.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 462.

145 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 576-577, 1551, 1924.

143
144
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58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

Chamber found that from Mansofinia, as the AFRC troops advanced through
Bombali District, the AFRC faction was “well-structured and organised”,m’ “had
a well-developed chain of command”,'*’” and that the AFRC faction “had a
planning and orders process”.148
The Trial Chamber accepted the evidence of TF1-033 that as the AFRC soldiers
moved from Mansofinia to Camp Rosos, Brima “was always at the helm of our
affairs when he says ‘move’ everybody is on his toes”.'*

While the AFRC troop was in Rosos, according to Witness George Johnson, who
the Trial Chamber found to be credible,lso the three Accused were based at the
headquarters, and the headquarters “was in charge of planning all operations and
giving military orders”. 151

Following the death of SAJ Musa and prior to the Freetown invasion, the Trial
Chamber found that Brima restructured the troops and appointed himself as
Commander in Chief."*?

The Trial Chamber found that at the beginning of the Freetown invasion, shortly
after the Orugu Address, the movement of the AFRC troops was “ordered and
strategic”, and that commanders reported the progress of their troops to Brima."”
Witness TF1-334, whose evidence the Trial Chamber accepted,154 referred to a
number of occasions where the AFRC troops captured new ground and then
waited for the brigade senior command, including Brima, to arrive and tell them
what to do next, and at one point stated that he and the other soldiers “will not do
anything without the command of Gullit [Brima]”.15 >

Based on these and other findings and other evidence, the Trial Chamber

ultimately found that:

146
147
148

149
150
151

152
153
154
155

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 468.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 585, a finding based on the evidence and findings in paras 576-585.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 591 (emphasis added), a finding based on the evidence and findings
in paras 586-591.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 366, 367, 378.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 370-371.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 586 (emphasis added); see also Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras
590-591.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 396-397, 420, 602-608.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1795.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 357-360.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1791.
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63.

64.

65.

the Accused Brima was the overall commander of both the
AFRC troops that moved from Mansofinia, Koinadugu District to
Camp Rosos, Bombali District and of the AFRC troops that later
invaded Freetown on 6 January 1999. As the overall commander,
the Accused Brima was substantially involved in planning the
various operations in these Districts."™

The operations of the AFRC troops that Brima was found by the Trial Chamber to
have been substantially involved in included attacks against villages that were not
military ’targets.157 The Trial Chamber found that the operations of the AFRC
troops in this period involved “a series of attacks in which civilians were
deliberately targeted for allegedly failing to sufficiently support the AFRC”,'® the
primary purpose of these attacks being “to spread terror among the civilian
popula‘[ion”.159

The crimes committed during the Bombali-Freetown campaign generally were
found by the Trial Chamber to have been “systematic”, and to follow a modus
operandi,160 and the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact was that
they were committed pursuant to a plan. One example demonstrating this is the
fact that for the attack on Freetown, a new AFRC battalion was created with the
express aim of creating fear among the civilian population by amputating

civilians’ hands.'®!

%2 in which Brima, at

Reference has been made above to the Mansofinia Address,1
the outset of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, announced the launch of
“Operation Spare No Soul”, told the troops that they were “going back to
Frectown”, and instructed troops to kill, maim or amputate any civilian with
whom they came into contact, that towns and villages were to be burned and

women and girls were free to satisfy the soldier’s sexual desires, and that civilians

should be abducted.'®

156
157
158
159
160
161
162

o

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1828 (emphasis added).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1569.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1568.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1571.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 233-236, 1549, 1731; see paragraph 22 above.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1771, 1775.

See paragraphs 28, 39-41 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 238, 1550, 1552, 1691-1695, 1725, 1830.
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66. Reference has been made above to the Orugu Address,'® given by Brima

immediately before the Freetown invasion:

A number of witnesses testified that ‘Gullit’ [Brima] chaired a
meeting of commanders at Orugu village on 4 January 1999 at
which he gave the order to attack Freetown. The Chief of Staff, the
Accused Kanu, ran the meeting and reiterated the orders to the
troops. Specifically, the troops were ordered to loot Freetown and
burn down the Kissy and Eastern police stations, capture State
House, open Pademba Road prison, kill anyone who opposed the
troops and abduct civilians in order to attract the attention of the
international community. ... these orders were carried out.

The Trial Chamber considers that the transmission of these orders
to the troops and their subsequent implementation, in addition to
the smaller operations described immediately above, proves the
existence of a functioning planning and orders process within the
AFRC faction from Colonel Eddie Town to State House in
Freetown.'®

67. The Trial Chamber found that while SAJ Musa appears to have been the overall
strategist for the AFRC, once Brima left Mansofinia he had no contact with Musa
until he reached Camp Rosos, that even then communication was cursory, and
that Brima was not subject to higher level supervision or command during this
period.166 The Trial Chamber thereby necessarily accepted that during the
journey from Mansofinia to Bombali District (until Brima’s arrest), and following
the death of SAJ Musa, Brima was the “overall strategist” for the AFRC troops in
Bombali District and Freetown.

68. One example of this relates to the attack on Karina, in respect of which the Trial
Chamber found:

... that at Kamagbengbeh in June of 1998, ‘Gullit’ [Brima] tried to
divide the troops and sent one group to attack Kambai and another

164 See paragraphs 29, 61 above.

165 Prial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 614-615 (footnotes omitted, emphasis added). The Trial Chamber
clearly accepted this evidence. At para. 1773 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, it said: “Witness TF1-
334 was present when ‘Gullit” [Brima] announced that it was time to attack Freetown and that the Sierra
Leone People’s Party government was responsible for denying the success of the rebel troops. He
ordered that Freetown should be looted and burnt down, that anyone who opposed the troops should be
considered a “collaborator” and should be killed.” The Trial Chamber said that this evidence was
corroborated by the evidence of TF1-033, and was “unchallenged and ... credible”.

166 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 383.
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to attack Karina. The troops argued against this division and
‘Gullit’ [Brima] agreed instead to focus the attack on Karina. TF1-
334 testified that ‘Gullit’ [Brima] called Karina a strategic point
and said that it was the home town of President Ahmed Tejan
Kabbah. ‘Gullit’ [Brima] told the junta forces that they should
demonstrate their power in Karina. He ordered the troops to burn
down Karina, to capture strong male civilians, and to amputate
civilians. ‘Gullit’ [Brima] stated that he wanted the attack on
Karina to shock the whole country and the international
community. Kamara and Kanu were present during this speech and
during the subsequent attack on Karina. There were no ECOMOG
or Kamajor troops in Karina at the time."®’

69. The Trial Chamber expressly found that the discussion at Kamagbengbeh
concerning the attack on Karina was “a strategic discussion between commanders
which could constitute planning of the attack on Karina and the crimes committed
therein”.'%®

70. A second example of this relates to the period after the AFRC lost control of State
House in Freetown. A number of witnesses, whose evidence the Trial Chamber
accepted,169 testified that after Brima received information that the people of
Fourah Bay had killed one of his soldiers, he announced “that he would lead the
AFRC troops to Fourah Bay to burn houses and kill people in retaliation”.'”® An
attack on the Fourah Bay area then took place, in which numerous civilians were
killed or amputated.

71. Brima himself routinely gave general and specific orders for the commission of
crimes.'”’

72.  AFRC troops routinely reported back to Brima after operations,172 and such

reports included information about crimes committed during the operations.173

167
168
169
170
71
172

173

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1553.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1917.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 924, 925.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 919; also paras 920-923.

See paragraph 79 below.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 589, 2037 (report about Gbinti), 613 (report about Waterloo), 1732
(“the troops systematically reported to their commanders, and often to ...Brima himself”).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 940, 1600 (report about Kissy Mental Home), 1715 (report about
Gbendembu), 1732 (“the troops systematically reported to their commanders, and often to ...Brima
himself”). See also para. 1771 (Brima ordered amputations, and as a result a subordinate came back with
a bag full of hands).
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The Trial Chamber made findings of Brima commending the troops on receiving
these reports about crimes.'” It was not unusal for Brima to brief the entire
force.'”

73 1In relation to the three enslavement crimes, the Trial Chamber was “satisfied that
the only reasonable inference is that a substantial degree of planning and
preparation were required to commit the crimes”.!’® It expressly found that Brima
“directly participated in and made a substantial contribution to the planning and
execution of the said crimes”,'”” and that Brima “planned, ordered, organised and
implemented the system to abduct and enslave civilians which was in fact
committed by AFRC troops in Bombali and Western Area”.'™ It ultimately
concluded that Brima is individually criminally responsible under Article 6(1) of
the Statute for planning the commission of each of the enslavement crimes in
Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area.'”® Given the other findings
of the Trial Chamber, and in particular the findings referred to in paragraphs 55-
72 above, the Prosecution submits that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude
that Brima, while responsible for the planning of the three enslavement crimes
during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, was not also responsible for planning
the other crimes that were committed during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

74. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact was
that Brima participated substantially in the planning of all of the crimes that were
committed during the course of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign. In particular, it
‘s submitted that no reasonable trier of fact could find that Brima was
substantially involved in planning the various operations of the AFRC in

Bombali District and Freetown,'® but that he was not substantially involved in

174
5

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1715.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 590.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1826.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1830 (emphasis added).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1834 (emphasis added).
® Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1835-1837.

"0 See paragraph 62 above. See also paras 22, 59 above.

i
176
177
178
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planning the crimes that were committed in the course of, and as part of, those
operations.

75.  The Prosecution submits that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of
fact is that Brima participated substantially in the planning of the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign as a whole, of which the commission of crimes was an
integral part, that from the outset Brima designated the criminal conduct
constituting those crimes, that all of the crimes committed during the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign were within the framework of that design, that Brima’s
planning was a factor substantially contributing to those crimes, and that Brima
acted with direct intent in relation to his own planning or with the awareness of
the substantial likelihood that the crimes would be committed in the execution of

that plan.

(ii). Ordering

76. Reference has been made in paragraphs 55 and 62 above to the findings of the
Trial Chamber that Brima was the overall commander of the AF RC troops during
the Bombali-Freetown Campaign (apart from a period when SAJ Musa was in
command). The Trial Chamber expressly found that he was in a position to give
orders to the AFRC troops, and that his orders were obeyed.181 The Trial
Chamber further found that “the Accused Brima’s exercise of effective control
was not sporadic, but constant. His orders remained effective and applicable to
incidents that occurred some time after their issuance”.'®

77 Reference has already been made in paragraphs 28, and 39 to 41 above to the
Mansofinia Address that was given by Brima at the outset of the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign. This was a general instruction to the AFRC troops as to
how to conduct themselves during the entire campaign, and the troops were

threatened with death by Brima if they did not comply with the order.'® In the

Mansofinia Address, Brima instructed troops that during the Bombali-Freetown

181 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1724.
182 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1725.
% See paragraph 39 above; Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 592-593, 618, 1550, 1691.
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Campaign they should kill, maim or amputate any civilian with whom they came
into contact, and that towns and villages were to be burned and women and girls

4 At the same time, Brima

were free to satisfy the soldier’s sexual desires.'®
ordered the troops as they moved northwards to capture strong civilians.'® This
initial order given in the Mansofinia address continued to be executed by AFRC
troops during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.186 The Prosecution submits that
the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Brima, in giving
the Mansofinia Address, ordered all of the killings, amputations, rapes and
abductions that were committed during the Bombali Freetown Campaign.

78 Reference has also been made at paragraph 29 above to the Orugu address given
by Brima two days prior to the invasion of Freetown, which, in effect, reaffirmed
that the order given in the Mansofinia Address would continue to apply
throughout the Freetown invasion.

79, In the course of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, Brima also gave a number of

other general orders,'®” as well as numerous more specific orders to commit

particular attacks'S® or even to commit individual crimes.'® The Trial Chamber

184 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1693-1694 (referring to the evidence of TF1-033), and 1695 (in
which the Trial Chamber clearly accepts this evidence). The Trial Chamber accepted this evidence also
in paragraph 238 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

185 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1355, 1691, 1830; see also para. 1834 (Brima, inter alia, “ordered”
the system to abduct and enslave civilians).

18 See paragraph 40 above.

187 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 238 makes a finding with respect to inter alia “Operation Fearful”

and “Operation Clear the Area” which respectively mandated the killing of any civilian in the vicinity

and the looting and burning of surrounding villages. In making this finding, the Trial Chamber relied on
the evidence of TF1-334 (Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 238, footnote 467), who testified that

“Operation Clear the Area” was ordered by Brima (TF1-334, Transcript 23 May 2005, pp. 104-106; 24

May 2005, pp. 2-5). In Rosos, in June 1998, Brima ordered that civilians should be cleared from the area

within 15 miles from Rosos, that they should be executed rather than brought back to the Camp and that

the surrounding villages should be burned and looted.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 588 (“On one occasion while at Rosos ... ‘Gullit’ [Brima] then

issued a public order in front of the assembled troops that they should attack Gbomsamba and return with

no civilians but with military equipment. He also stated that civilians should be amputated and the town
burned down to record their presence there.”); para. 589 (“The attack on Gbinti while the troops were at

Rosos was similarly orchestrated”); paras 939, 1599-1600 (“... the Accused Brima, in the presence of

commanders including the Accused Kamara and Kanu, ordered troops to go out from the mental home

and “clear up” the area. Brima stated that civilians were to be killed and amputated and houses burned as
punishment for their support of ECOMOG”); para. 1731 (referring to “the evidence that the Accused

Brima ordered attacks on civilians on several occasions”). In Kamagbengeh in June of 1998, the First

Accused ordered the AFRC troops to attack Karina and to deliberately target civilians in order to “shock

the whole country and the international community”.

188
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found, for instance, that Brima ordered his subordinates to perpetrate crimes
against the civilian population in Karina with the specific intent of instilling terror
in the civilian population.lgo These more specific orders cannot be considered in
isolation as merely orders to commit the particular attack or the particular crime
in question: rather, in the context of the findings of the Trial Chamber as whole,
the only conclusion that could be drawn by any reasonable trier of fact is that they
were orders that reinforced and reiterated the general order that had been given in
the Mansofinia Address.

80. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact was
that Brima ordered all of the crimes committed in Bombali District and Freetown
and the Western Area, particularly through the general order given in the
Mansofinia Address and reiterated in the Orugu Address, but also through more

specific orders given throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

(iii). Instigating

81. The Trial Chamber set out the law of “instigating” as an Article 6(1) mode of
liability in paragraphs 769-771 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement. The
Prosecution takes no issue with the Trial Chamber’s definition of this mode of

liability.

189 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 905, 908, 910, 911, 1779 (order to execute civilians in State House
Area), 920, 925, 1770 (order to kill civilians at Fourah Bay), 939, 941, 1780, 942, 1599, 1237 (order to
burn houses and kill civilians at Kissy Mental Home), 1777 (orders to kill collaborators in Freetown),
1781 (order to massacre civilians in Rogbalan Mosque), 1239 , 1771, 1772, 1773 (order to amputate
civilians at Kissy Mental Home), 1421, 1778 (order to loot at State House), 1580 (order to loot, burn and
kill civilians during Freetown invasion), 1059, 1272, 1380, 1381, 1449, 1452, 1583, 1607, 1774, 1783
(orders to abduct civilians during the invasion and retreat of Freetown), 1063, 1064, 1602, 1775, 1776
(order to commit atrocities during the retreat of Freetown, orders to burn houses, amputate and kill
civilians), 1608 (order to burn down Calaba Town), 1355, 1451 (order to capture civilians at
Mansofinia), 1553, 1559, 1560, 1710, 1711 (order to burn down Karina, to kill, amputate or capture
civilians in Karina), 1565, 1566, 1568 (order to kill civilians, burn and loot villages, at Rosos), 1358,
1717, 1719, 1783 (order to distribute children among commanders and to train them as soldiers).

1% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1711.

Prosecutor v. Brima, Kamara and Kanu, SCSL-04-16-A 37



82 The Prosecution submits that in making the Mansofinia Address,””’ Brima
ordered all of the killings, amputations, and rapes that were committed during the
Bombali-Freetown Campaign. The Prosecution submits that as well as ordering
these crimes, Brima, by making this address, also instigated all of these crimes, as
well as all of the other crimes that were committed during the Bombali-Freetown
campaign. The Trial Chamber accepted the evidence of Witness TF1-033, who
testified that in the Mansofinia Address, Brima said:

“You all know what befell on us when the ECOMOG forces
removed us from power in Freetown. Our colleagues, soldiers,
sympathisers, relatives, were killed by civilians as well as
ECOMOG soldiers. So for that reason, we are going back to
Freetown. We are going back to Freetown and we should all return
that fell on us [...] So we are not going to spare any civilian, only

those we desire to be with us. [...] Young girls and women are free
to satisfy your sexual desire. This is Operation Spare No Soul '

83. In giving this order, Brima warned the soldiers “Minus you, plus you”, which
meant that if a soldier failed to go by those orders, he would face death.'” The
Trial Chamber found that the use of this phrase “was not a one-off warning to the
troops, but rather a well-known rule of the Accused Brima”.'*

84. The Trial Chamber also found that, on a number of subsequent occasions, the
Accused Brima publicly addressed the troops and advocated criminal conduct.'”

Reference has been made in paragraphs 78-79 above to the numerous general and

specific orders that Brima gave throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign for

crimes to be committed. Reference has also been made at paragraph 29 above to
the Orugu Address, in which Brima announced to AFRC troops “that it was time

to attack Freetown and that the Sierra Leone People’s Party government was

responsible for denying the success of the rebel troops”, and ordered “that

1

)

' As to which, see paragraphs 28, 39-41, 65, 77-79 above.

192 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1694 (emphasis added).

193 Prial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 592-593, 618, 1550, 1691.

194 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 593, referring to the evidence of TF1-334, who the Trial Chamber
found credible (Trial Chamber’s Judgement para. 359; see also para. 599).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1829; See also para. 1552: “The Trial Chamber recalls the evidence
of witness TF1-033 that Brima addressed his troops publicly in Yaya and advocated attacks on civilians.
The Trial Chamber is satisfied that the witness was in fact referring to the speech made by the Accused
Brima at Mansofinia and therefore makes no further findings on this evidence.”

1

o
b
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Freetown should be looted and burnt down, that anyone who opposed the troops
should be considered a “collaborator” and should be killed”. In Freetown, after it
became clear that ECOMOG troops had taken over, Brima ordered the troops “to
go as far as they could” burning and killing people.]96
85. The Trial Chamber also referred, for instance, to the evidence of Witness TF1-
033, whose evidence the Trial Chamber accepted, that when Brima heard that 25
civilians were killed in the attack on Gbendembu, he commended his men for “a

job well done”."”’

By this act, Brima was thereby clearly instigating those and
other AFRC troops to continue to commit such crimes in the future.

86. The Trial Chamber expressly found that Brima’s declaration at Camp Rosos of
“Operation Clear the Area” was a generalised instruction that “created a climate
of criminality which endured in the months following the order”.!”® The
Prosecution submits that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact
from the findings of the Trial Chamber is that all of the addresses and orders
calling for the commission of crimes that Brima gave throughout the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign, beginning with the Mansofinia Address at the very
beginning of that campaign, created and maintained this enduring climate of
criminality. The Prosecution submits that a commander will be liable for
“instigating” crimes in circumstances where a commander has created an
environment permissive of criminal behaviour by subordinates, that contributes to
such crimes actually being committed by subordinates."”’

87 The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber’s finding that there was not “any
evidence” that Brima instigated any of the Bombali District Crimes (apart from
the three enslavement crimes) is patently erroneous. This finding is also
inconsistent, for instance, with one of the Trial Chamber’s own findings in
relation to Kanu. At paragraph 2063 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, the Trial

Chamber refers to an incident in which Kanu, at a meeting chaired by Brima,

reminded the AFRC troops present “about orders to burn down police stations and

19 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1775.

197 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 896, 1564, 1715.

198 Trjal Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1713.

199 plaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 337; Gali¢ Trial Judgement, paras 168-170; Prosecution Final Trial
Brief, para. 413
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kill ‘targeted persons’/collaborators”. The Trial Chamber found (correctly it is
submitted) that by this conduct, Kanu instigated the ensuing killings.200 It failed
to find, however that by giving the original order, Brima also instigated those
crimes.

88. The Prosecution submits that from this evidence, which the Trial Chamber found
to be credible and reliable, considered in the light of all of the other findings by
the Trial Chamber, the only conclusion that could be drawn by any reasonable
trier of fact is that Brima instigated all of the crimes that were committed during
the Bombali-Freetown Campaign. On the basis of the Trial Chamber’s findings,
the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Brima’s acts of
instigation substantially contributed to all of the crimes committed by the AFRC
troops throughout the Bombali-Frectown Campaign, and that Brima acted with
the direct intent or with awareness of the substantial likelihood that all of these

crimes would be committed.

(iv). Aiding and abetting

89. The Trial Chamber set out the law of “aiding and abetting” as an Article 6(1)
mode of liability in paragraphs 775-777 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement. The
Prosecution takes no issue with the Trial Chamber’s definition of this mode of
liability.

90. In particular, it is noted that the Trial Chamber accepted (correctly it is submitted)
that persistent failure by a superior to prevent or punish subordinates over a
period of time, in addition to entailing responsibility under Article 6(3), may also
be a basis for liability for aiding and abetting.””’

91. In this respect, the Trial Chamber specifically found that Brima never took any
steps to prevent or punish the commission of crimes by his subordinates (indeed,
for the reasons given above, he was actively instigating the commission of these

crimes), and that his failure to do so was “indicative of the tolerance and

200 Tpial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2062
2! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 777; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 337.
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institutionalised nature of the commission of these crimes within the AFRC

forces”. 22 The Prosecution submits that the only conclusion that could be drawn

by any reasonable trier of fact from the findings of the Trial Chamber is that the

enduring climate of criminality that was created by Brima’s conduct as a whole?®”?
provided encouragement and moral support to the AFRC troops who committed
the crimes and had a substantial effect on the perpetration of all of the crimes.

92. The Trial Chamber also accepted (correctly it is submitted) that the presence at
the scene of a crime by a person who is in a position of authority may be regarded
as an important indication for encouragement or support.zo4

93. In respect of one specific incident, the Trial Chamber in fact found that Brima’s
presence at the scene of the crime and failure to admonish the troops had a
substantial effect on the commission of the crimes, and amounted to aiding and
abetting the killings in that incident.’”® However, the Trial Chamber failed to
make similar findings in respect of various other incidents where the Trial
Chamber found that crimes were committed in Brima’s presence,206 or that orders

7 or that crimes were

to commit crimes were given in Brima’s presence,20

committed in circumstances where the AFRC troops knew that Brima had prior

knowledge of the crimes about to be committed,>*® or that crimes were reported to

Brima who expressly or tacitly approved of them.*”

94 The Prosecution submits that based on all of the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the
Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Brima’s conduct, from the time of the Mansofinia Address and throughout the
Bombali-Freetown Campaign as a whole, provided encouragement and moral
support to the AFRC troops to commit all of the crimes that were committed

during that campaign, that this encouragement and moral support had a

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1741.

See paragraphs 44 and 86 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 775.

205 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1785-1786.
206 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1583, 1774.
207 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1238, 1601.
See paragraphs 77-79 above.

See paragraphs 43, 72 above.
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substantial effect on the perpetration of all of the crimes, and that Brima knew, or
was aware of the substantial likelihood, that his acts would assist the commission
of the crimes by the perpetrators, and that Brima is therefore individually
responsible for aiding and abetting all of the Bombali District Crimes, and

Freetown and the Western Area Crimes.

E. The individual responsibility of Kamara for the Bombali
District Crimes and Freetown and the Western Area Crimes

(i). Planning

95. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 51-52 above.

06. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Kamara, together with Brima and others, planned the entire Bombali-Freetown
Campaign, including the commission of widespread and systematic atrocities that
were part of that plan.

97. The Prosecution submits that this follows from the following findings in
particular.

98, The Trial Chamber found that Kamara was Brima’s Deputy commander at
Mansofinia and throughout the journey to Colonel Eddie Town,*'” and that he was
Brima’s Deputy throughout the Freetown invasion and Freetown retreat.”'' The
only period in which he was not the deputy commander was during an
indeterminate (but relatively brief) period between his arrest in Colonel Eddie
Town until the death of SAJ Musa on 23 December 1998 (shortly before the

Freetown invasion began).2 12 prior to the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, Kamara

210 77 rial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 380, 465, 468, 1926.
211 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 472, 474, 602, 1944.
212 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 198-201, 388, 472, 601, 602 and 611.

Prosecutor v. Brima, Kamara and Kanu, SCSL-04-16-A 42



219

had been the commander of the AFRC troops in Kono District, until Brima

. 213
arrived there and took over.

99. Kamara was one of the participan’[s,214 together with Brima and SAJ Musa, at the
meeting held in Krubola/Kurubonla, “to discuss the future and develop a new
military strategy”,”’> and to “define the new objectives of the AFRC rebel
movement”.>'® He was “one of the senior AFRC faction commanders” at that
meeting.”'’ The necessary implication is that this meeting was a strategic
planning meeting, at which the overall strategic plan and objectives of the
Bombali-Freetown campaign were decided upon.218

100. The Trial Chamber found that from Mansofinia, as the AFRC troops advanced
through Bombali District, the AFRC faction was “well-structured and
organised”,219 “had a well-developed chain of command”,**° and that the AFRC
faction “had a planning and orders process”.22 :

101. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 57, 61 and 63-64 above.

102. The Trial Chamber found that at Rosos, Kamara was based at “headquarters”,
from where operations were planned and orders were issued.??? The Trial
Chamber also referred to the evidence of TF1-334, whose evidence the Trial
Chamber accep‘[ed,223 that in this period Kamara was one of the commanders who
made decisions regarding the brigade, and referred to the evidence that he “played
a role at a senior level in military operations in Bombali District”.?** The Trial

Chamber found that he “participated in decision making” in Bombali District.**’

Another witness, George Johnson, who the Trial Chamber found to be credible,226

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1672.

214 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 379, 462, 466, 1924.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 190 (and see also para 379).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 462.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 466.

See paragraphs 17-19 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 468.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 585, a finding based on the evidence and findings in paras 576-584.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 591 (emphasis added), a finding based on the evidence and findings
in paras 586-590.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1924; see also para. 466.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 359.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 466, 1924.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1925.

226 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 370-371.
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also gave evidence that all three Accused were based at the headquarters, and the
headquarters “was in charge of planning all operations and giving military

227
orders”.”?

103. One witness testified that in this period, the witness reported to both Brima and
Kamara,’?® and that Kamara was one of “the persons responsible for direct
command of the brigade”.zzg Another witness testified that Kanu’s role as chief
of staff was to enforce orders given by Brima and Kamara.>>* The Trial Chamber
accepted the evidence of these two witnesses.”'

104. During the Bombali District period, Kamara led AFRC troops on operations in
which crimes were committed,”*? was present during operations when crimes
were committed,?>> or was present when Brima gave orders to commit crimes.”**
He gave orders himself during such operations,23 > and was present when
subordinate commanders reported back on crimes that had been committed.>*

105. Immediately prior to the invasion of Freetown, Kamara was one of the
participants at the meeting at which Brima gave the Orugu Address (as to which,
see paragraphs 29, 66 and 78 above), and at which the invasion of Freetown was
discussed.23” Prior to the capture of State House, he spoke to Sam Bockarie (the
leader of the RUF forces) on the radio.”*®

106. The Trial Chamber found that at the beginning of the Freetown invasion, the
movement of the AFRC troops was “ordered and strategic”.239

107. The Trial Chamber further found that Kamara was one of the senior commanders

at the AFRC headquarters at State House in Freetown from the time of its capture

227
228
229
230

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 586 (emphasis added); see also para. 591.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 576 (referring to the evidence of TF1-334).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 579 (referring to the evidence of TF1-334).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 586 (referring to the evidence of George Johnson).
1 The Trial Chamber found TF1-334 a credible witness at para. 359 and George Johnson a credible witness
at para. 370.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 588-589.

23 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 850, 1034, 1561.

234 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 588, 589, 1553, 1559, 1710.

25 rial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1915.

236 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 895, 1556.

27 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 902, 1945.

28 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1945.

239 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1795.

232
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on 6 January 1999,2%° and that he attended meetings there when AFRC operations
were discussed,”*' including at a meeting when Brima announced that the burning
of Freetown should start.2*? The Trial Chamber expressly found that during this
period, Kamara “participated in decision making’".243

108. One witness stated that during the Frectown invasion “it was normal practice for
the commanders>** to have a discussion, after which ‘Five-Five’ [Kanu] ... would
inform the troops on the details of the opcration”.245

109. Kamara participated in operations during the Freetown invasion in which crimes
were committed,?*® and gave orders during the course of these operations.247 He
was present when Brima gave orders to commit crimes.***

110. Following the retreat from Freetown, the Accused Kamara took part in a second
attack on Freetown that took place with the participation of RUF commanders.”*’
The Trial Chamber also referred to evidence (which it apparently accepted) that at
Newton, following the Freetown retreat, Kamara, together with Brima and Kanu,
participated in negotiations with UNAMSIL officials and Archbishop Ganda over
the possible release of children to help secure a ceasefire.”’

111. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could
draw was that Kamara was one of the senior commanders of the AFRC forces in

Bombali District who participated substantially in the planning of the Bombali-

240 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1794, 1945.

241 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1945.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1945.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1948. (emphasis added)

Which, in view of the Trial Chamber’s other findings, must have included Kamara.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 922; referring to the evidence of TF1-184, whose evidence the Trial
Chamber accepted: see para. 926.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1945 (operation to release prisoners), 919, 923, 1231, 1939,
1941, 1592 (attack on Fourah Bay). See also Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1936.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 473, 1945, 1947 (giving of orders during the operation to release
prisoners, and order to the AFRC troops to burn houses).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 919-926 (when Brima ordered the attack on Fourah Bay); paras 939,
1237, 1238, 1599, 1772, 1775 (when Brima issued an order at Kissy Mental Home to attack civilians);
paras 1059, 1607 (when Brima issued an order at PWD Junction to abduct civilians); 1831, 1947 (when
Brima gave an order to burn Freetown); 1803 (generally).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 473.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1273.
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247
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Freetown operation, of which the crimes committed in the course of that
campaign were an integral part. The only conclusion is that all of the crimes
committed during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign were within the framework of
the plan of which Kamara was one of the planners, that Kamara’s planning was a
factor substantially contributing to those crimes, and that Kamara acted with
direct intent in relation to his own planning or with the awareness of the
substantial likelihood that the crimes would be committed in the execution of that
plan. The commission of crimes was an integral part of the military strategy of the
AFRC troops during the Bombali/Freetown Campaign. The commission of crimes
cannot be viewed separately from the rest of the military planning.

112. In particular, on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or alternatively, on the
findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber,
no reasonable trier of fact could find that Kamara “participated in decision
making” of the senior commanders of the AFRC who conducted the Bombali-
Freetown campaign,25 ! but that he was not substantially involved in the decision
making when it came to the crimes that were repeatedly committed in the course
of, and as part of, that campaign. The only conclusion that any reasonable trier of
fact could reach is that Kamara is individually responsible for “planning” all of

the crimes that were committed in the course of that campaign.

(ii). Ordering

113. Reference has been made in paragraphs 98 above to the findings of the Trial
Chamber that Kamara was Brima’s deputy commander at Mansofinia and
throughout the journey to Colonel Eddie Town, and that he was Brima’s Deputy
throughout the Freetown invasion and Freetown retreat ( apart from an undefined
but brief period when SAJ Musa was in command).

114. Reference has also been made above to the Mansofinia Address that was given by

Brima at the outset of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.25 2 This was a general

251 7Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1925, 1948.
22 Qee paragraphs 28, 39-41, 65, 77-79 and 82 above
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instruction to the AFRC troops as to how to conduct themselves during the entire
campaign, requiring them to kill, maim or amputate any civilian with whom they
came into contact, and requiring that towns and villages be burned and that
women and girls were free to satisfy the soldier’s sexual desires.”>> Reference has
also been made above to the Orugu Address given by Brima two days prior to the
invasion of Freetown, which, in effect, reaffirmed that the order given in the
Mansofinia Address would continue to apply throughout the Freetown
invasion.”*
115. Reference has further been made in paragraph 109 above to orders that Kamara
gave during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign for AFRC troops to commit crimes.
116. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could
reach was that in the particular factual circumstances that pertained during the
Bombali-Freetown Campaign, the orders to commit crimes that Kamara gave
were not merely orders to commit the specific crimes that were the subject of
each of those orders, but were orders that reaffirmed and reinforced the general
order given by Brima in the Mansofinia Address and repeated in the Orugu
Address. On this basis, the Prosecution submits that Kamara is individually
responsible, under Article 6(1) of the Statute, for ordering all of the crimes that

were committed during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

(iii). Instigating

117. Reference is made to paragraph 81 above.
118. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings made by the Trial

Chamber, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the evidence

255 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1693-1694 (referring to the evidence of TF1-033), and 1695 (in
which the Trial Chamber clearly accepts this evidence). It is absolutely clear that the Trial Chamber
accepted this evidence also in paragraph 238 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

See paragraphs 29, 66, 78 and 105 above.
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accepted by the Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier

of fact is that Kamara, by his conduct, instigated all of the crimes committed

during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

119. Reference is made to paragraphs 104-105 above. It is recalled in particular that
Kamara was present at the giving of the Mansofinia Address and the Orugu
Address, and when the order was given to attack Karina,25 5 and was for instance
present when Brima congratulated subordinates on a “job well done” after they
reported to him the killing of 25 civilians. **°

120. The Prosecution submits that the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact
could reach is that Kamara’s conduct:

(1) in openly performing the functions of deputy commander of the AFRC
forces throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, and in particular, in
openly participating in decision making at the top command level without
distancing himself from decisions made;”’

(2) inleading or participating in operations in which crimes were committed, in
being present during operations when crimes were committed or when
orders were given to commit crimes or when subordinate commanders
reported back on the commission of crimes; and

(3) in giving certain orders himself to commit crimes,

contributed significantly to the creation and maintenance of the enduring climate

of criminality that existed throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, 2% and

that Kamara, together with Brima and others, thereby incited, solicited or
otherwise induced the AFRC troops to commit all of the crimes that were
perpetrated during the course of the Bombali-Freetown Carnpaign.25 °  The

Prosecution further submits that the only conclusion that could be reached by any

reasonable trier of fact is that this instigation was a factor substantially

contributing to the commission of the crimes, and that Kamara acted with direct

intent or with the awareness of the substantial likelihood that the crimes would be

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1551, 1559.
See paragraphs 43 and 85 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1948.

See paragraphs 44, 86, 91 above.

Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 769.
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committed.?®® The only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could reach 1s
that Kamara is individually responsible for “instigating” all of the crimes that

were committed in the course of that campaign.

(iv). Aiding and abetting

121. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 89-92 above.

122. The Trial Chamber specifically found that Kamara, who was in a superior-
subordinate relationship with the AFRC troops who committed the crimes, had
actual or imputed knowledge of the Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and
Western Area Crimes and failed to prevent or punish the perpetra‘cors.261 For the
reasons given in paragraphs 90-91 above, in addition to giving rise to Article 6(3)
liability, this clearly had an encouraging effect on the AFRC troops to commit the
crimes, and also renders Kamara liable, under Article 6(1), for aiding and abetting
all of those crimes.*®’

123. More generally, Kamara, by performing the functions of deputy commander of
the AFRC troops throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign,263 necessarily
made a substantial contribution to the execution of that campaign, of which the
commission of the crimes was an integral part. He therefore necessarily made a
substantial contribution to the commission of those crimes.

124 The case of Kamara can be compared for instance to the case of Milorad
Krnojelac before the ICTY.?* Kmojelac was the commander of the KP Dom
camp in Foda, in which civilians were unlawfully detained in inhumane
conditions and mistreated. The Trial Chamber in that case found that it was not

5

proved that Krnojelac himself had any intent to detain the civilians,”® or to

20 Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 770.

26! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1927, 1949.

262 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 777

263 The nature of this contribution is evident from the findings of the Trial Chamber referred to for instance,
in paragraphs 98, 99, 104, 105, 109 above.

24 See Krnojelac Trial Judgement and Krnojelac Appeal Judgement.

%5 Krnojelac Trial Judgement, para. 127.
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® or to beatings or torture.

subject them to inhumane living conditions,*®
Furthermore, the Trial Chamber expressly found that Krmojelac was not liable as
a participant in a joint criminal enterprise.’®” Nevertheless, the Trial Chamber
convicted him as an aider and abettor of these crimes, because he had knowledge
of the unlawful confinement, inhumane conditions and ill-treatment, and as
warden did nothing to stop it, thereby encouraging the commission of these
crimes by his subordinates.?®® The ICTY Appeals Chamber dismissed a defence
appeal against these ﬁndings.269

125. The Prosecution submits that the case of Kamara is an a fortiori case of aiding
and abetting, since his case, it is clear from his conduct referred to above that he
clearly did have the intent that the crimes be committed during the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign. The Bombali-Freetown Campaign, including the systematic
crimes that were an integral part of that campaign, clearly could not have been
carried out without the active participation of a number of commanders in
addition to Brima. Kamara was the second most senior commander. He played
an active role in that capacity, with the knowledge of the crimes that were to be
committed, and were being committed, as part of that campaign. By performing
his role as deputy commander, he materially assisted, and knew that he was
materially assisting, in the carrying out of the campaign as a whole, of which the
crimes were an integral part.

126. The Prosecutor further submits that the conduct of Kamara referred to in
paragraph 109 above provided encouragement and moral support to the troops
who committed these crimes and had a substantial effect on the perpetration of all
of the crimes by those troops.

127. The Prosecution submits that based on all of the findings of the Trial Chamber, or

alternatively, the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the

266

Krnojelac Trial Judgement, para. 170.

27 Krnojelac Trial Judgement, paras 127, 248, 315, 346, 427, 487, 525.

% Krnojelac Trial Judgement, paras 127, 171, 316, 489, 490, 496, 499, 513-516, 523, 525 (and compare
paras 319 (holding that he was not liable as an aider and abettor of certain specific beatings committed
outside the camp which he could not have known were being committed by guards under his command),
347, 428 and 491-492 (holding that he was not liable as an aider and abettor for specific crimes in
circumstances where he did not know that the crimes committed included those specific crimes).

%9 Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, paras 35-53.
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Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Kamara is individually responsible for “aiding and abetting” all of the Bombali

District Crimes, and Freetown and Western Area Crimes.

F. The individual responsibility of Kanu for the Bombali District
crimes and Freetown and the Western Area crimes

(i). Planning

128. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 51-52 above.

129. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could
have drawn is that Kanu, together with Brima and others, planned the entire
Bombali-Freetown Campaign, including the commission of widespread and
systematic atrocities as part of that plan.

130. The Prosecution submits that this follows from the following findings in
particular.

131. The Trial Chamber found that during the journey of the AFRC forces from
Mansofinia to Bombali District, Kanu was a senior commander of the AFRC
fighting force who was able to command troops.’” The Trial Chamber found
that, in addition, he was the Commander of the AFRC fighting force in charge of
abducted civilians including women and children.?”! In this period, he held the
position of Brima’s Chief of Staff, and the Trial Chamber found that he was
active in this position.””* The Trial Chamber found that he was also Chief of Staff

™ Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2036.
7' Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 526.
212 Trjal Chamber’s Judgement, paras 380, 532.
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and the commander in charge of civilian abductees throughout the attack on
Freetown on 6 January 1999 and the retreat to Newton.*”

132. Kanu was one of the participants,274 together with Brima and SAJ Musa, at the
meeting held in Krubola/Kurubonla, “to discuss the future and develop a new
military strategy”,””” and to “define the new objectives of the AFRC rebel
movement”.’® The necessary implication is that this meeting was a strategic
planning meeting, at which the overall strategic plan and objectives of the
Bombali-Freetown campaign were decided upon.277

133. The Trial Chamber found that from Mansofinia, as the AFRC troops advanced
through Bombali District, the AFRC faction was “well-structured and
organised”,278 “had a well-developed chain of command”,”” and that the AFRC
faction “had a planning and orders process”.280

134. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 57, 61 and 63-64 above.

135. During the Bombali District period, Kanu was a member of the headquarters
group which was “in charge of planning all operations and giving military
orders”.?®"  Witness TF1-334 (whose evidence the Trial Chamber acceptedzgz)
testified that Kanu (“Five-Five”) was one of the individuals who was part of the
“brigade administration”, which was responsible for direct command of the
brigade.283 Witness TF1-334 also confirmed that the Accused Kanu, as chief of
staff, was present when the Accused Brima gave ordets to attack and burn Karina,
amputate the citizens, and capture strong men, as a demonstration “to shock the

25284
whole country.””®

273

275

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 535.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1551.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 190 (and see also para. 379).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 462.

See paragraph 56 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 468.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 585, a finding based on the evidence and findings in paras 576-585.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 591 (emphasis added), a finding based on the evidence and findings
in paras 586-591.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2038 (referring to evidence which the Trial Chamber accepted, at
para. 2040).

The Trial Chamber found TF1-334’s testimony to be credible at para. 359.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 579.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2038.
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136. During the Bombali District period, Kanu also commanded troops on military
opera‘tions,285 and gave orders and determined the tactics to be employed in such
operations.”®

137. The Trial Chamber found that throughout the Bombali District period, Kanu was,
in addition to being Chief of Staff, also the commander in charge of abducted

civilians.?*’

The Trial Chamber found that he planned, organised and
implemented the system to abduct and enslave civilians which was committed by
AFRC troops.288 The Trial Chamber found that Kanu “presided over a system
that institutionalised serious abuse of civilians”,*®® and that he designed and
implemented a system to control abducted girls and women.”*”

138. During the Bombali District period, Kanu led AFRC troops on operations in
which crimes were committed, and made strategic or tactical decisions in the
course of those opera’tions,291 was present during operations when crimes were
committed,”> or was present when Brima gave orders to commit crimes.””?

Immediately prior to the invasion of Freetown, Kanu was one of the participants

at the meeting at which Brima gave the Orugu Address (as to which, see

paragraphs 29, 66 and 78 above), and at which the invasion of Freetown was

294 Indeed, Kanu ran this meeting®® at which Kanu reiterated Brima’s

discussed.
orders to the commanders, and specifically reminded them about Brima’s order to
loot Freetown and burn down the Kissy and Eastern police stations, to capture

State House, to open Pademba Road prison, and to kill anyone who opposed the

285

287

288
289
2590
291
292
293
294
295

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2036, 2039 (referring to evidence which the Trial Chamber
accepted, at para. 2040).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2037-2039 (referring to evidence which the Trial Chamber accepted,
at para. 2040).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1717, 1830, 2091, 2093. The Trial Chamber referred (at para. 1717)
to the evidence of TF1-334, which it accepted, that “following the completion of the training period, the
trainees were addressed by both the Accused Kanu and the Accused Brima. Brima then ordered that the
male children be distributed to the various company commanders, while the girls and women were to be
turned over to *“their husbands” meaning the soldiers and commanders”.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2095.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2042.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2092.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 588-589, 2036-2037, 2039.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 850, 1555
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 588, 589, 1553, 1559 1710, 2038.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 532, 902, 2063.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2068.
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troops and abduct civilians in order to attract the attention of the international

. 296
community.

139. The Trial Chamber found that at the beginning of the Freetown invasion, the
movement of the AFRC troops was “ordered and strategic”,””’ and that the AFRC
faction had a functioning chain of command, planning and orders process, until
the troops lost control of State House. >

140. The Trial Chamber found that throughout the Freetown invasion and Freetown
retreat, until the retreat to Newton in the Western Area, Kanu continued in his
positions of Chief of Staff and of commander in charge of civilians.””” The Trial
Chamber found that in addition to assisting the commander in an administrative
capacity, Kanu’s position of Chief of Staff placed him in a position of effective
control over troops,”® and that he was able to issue orders to the troops which
were obeyed.3 Ol 4 further found that he was third in command in Freetown, and
that the Operations Director, the Operations Commander, the Task Force
Commander and the head of Military Police were all required to report to him.**

141. The Trial Chamber found that in Freetown, Kanu was based at State House, the
headquarters of the AFRC fighting forces,”” and that he was almost always at
Brima’s side during the Freetown invasion and retreat.’® As Chief of Staff,
Kanu’s role was to enforce orders given by Brima, Kamara and the Operations
Commander.’®® He attended meetings with Brima at which orders to commit
crimes were issued,3 96 and it was he who made an announcement over the local
radio that the AFRC had captured State House.>” While at State House, on at

least one occasion, he issued an order of a strategic nature.’*®

296
297
298
299
300

302
303

303
306
307
308

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 532, 586, 902, 2063.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1795.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2067, 2072.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2067, 2091, 2094, 2095.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2069, 2072.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2075-2076.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2070.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 534, 1794, 2071.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 534.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 586.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1831, 2071.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2071.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2074.
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142. One witness stated that during the Frectown invasion “it was normal practice for
the commanders" to have a discussion, after which ‘Five-Five’ [Kanu] ... would
inform the troops on the details of the operation”.m During the Freetown retreat,
he also attended meetings with Brima at which strategic decisions were
discussed.’"’

143. Kanu participated in operations during the Freetown invasion in which crimes
were committed,*'? or led such operations,ﬂ3 and gave orders during the course of
these operations,314 including orders to commit crimes.’!> He was present when
Brima gave orders to commit crimes,’' and reissued orders that were given by

8

. 1 . . 18 - .
Brima.)'” He also personally committed numerous crimes,’'® including, for

instance, performing amputations of victims in front of the AFRC troops to

demonstrate how it was done.*"’

144. The Trial Chamber referred to evidence (which it apparently accepted) that at
Newton, following the Freetown retreat, Kanu, together with Brima and Kamara,
participated in negotiations with UNAMSIL officials and Archbishop Ganda over
the possible release of children to help secure a ceasefire.’?’

145 The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial

309
310

310
312
313
314
315

317

318

319
320

Which, in view of the Trial Chamber’s other findings, must have included Kanu.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 922; referring to the evidence of TF1-184, whose evidence the Trial
Chamber accepted: see paras 901 and 1228.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1831.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 919, 926, 1241, 2048.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 923,931, 1590, 1781, 2058, 2061, 2073.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 610, 926, 1801, 2073.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 533 (generally), 902, 910, 922, 931, 1229-1230, 1238 (orders for
amputations), 1589, 1601, 2060-2061 (ordered the amputations of up to 200 civilians); 1608 (ordered
“the war candle to be put on” meaning that houses in Freetown should be burnt, and gave more specific
orders for burning of property), 1781, 1803, 2058 (order to kill ECOMOG soldiers), 2074.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 939,1059, 1237 (order that civilians were to be killed and amputated
and houses burned as punishment for their support of ECOMOG), 1599, 1607 (order to abduct civilians),
1771 (order to commit widespread amputations), 1772, 1775 (order to commit amputations, kill civilians
and burn property), 1803 (generally), 1831.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2058, 2059. As the Trial Chamber found (at para. 2059), correctly it
is submitted, Kanu is not relieved of criminal responsibility for ordering this massacre simply because he
was reissuing an order originally made by his commander.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 533 (generally), 910, 1229-1230 (amputations), 2057 (looting of at
least one vehicle), 2058 (killed one ECOMOG soldier).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 921, 1229-1230, 1588, 1591, 2050, 2053, 2061.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1273.
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(ii).

146.

147.

Chamber accepted, the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could
draw was that Kanu was one of the senior commanders of the AFRC forces
throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign who participated substantially in the
planning of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, of which the commission of
systematic crimes was an integral part. The only conclusion that any reasonable
trier of fact could reach is that all of the crimes committed during the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign were within the framework of the plan of which Kanu was
one of the planners, that Kanu’s planning was a factor substantially contributing
to those crimes, and that Kanu acted with direct intent in relation to his own
planning or with the awareness of the substantial likelihood that the crimes would

be committed in the execution of that plan.

Ordering

Reference has been made in paragraphs 131, 135 and 137 above to the findings of
the Trial Chamber that Kanu was a senior commander of the AFRC troops during
the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, that he was the number three in command
during the Freetown invasion, that he was in a superior-subordinate relationship
with the AFRC troops that committed crimes during the Bombali-Freetown
Campaign, and that as Chief of Staff he had the function of ensuring that Brima’s
orders were enforced.

Reference has also been made in paragraph 66 and 78 above to the Trial
Chamber’s finding that Kanu was one of the participants at the meeting at which
Brima gave the Orugu Address. Kanu in fact ran this meeting, at which he
reiterated Brima’s orders to the commanders, and specifically reminded them
about Brima’s order to loot Freetown and burn down the Kissy and Eastern police
stations, to capture State House, to open Pademba Road prison, to kill anyone
who opposed the troops and to abduct civilians in order to attract the attention of
the international community. The Trial Chamber found that by reissuing Brima’s
order at this meeting, Kanu prompted the perpetrators to kill civilians in

Freetown, and that he was therefore liable for instigating these killings during the
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21 However, the Prosecution submits that in reissuing

Frectown invasion.
Brima’s order at the meeting in Orugu, Kanu was, according to the law endorsed
by the Trial Chamber’2 at the very least, ordering all of the crimes encompassed
within that order throughout the Freetown invasion and Freetown retreat.

148. Reference has also been made above to the Mansofinia Address that was given by
Brima at the outset of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.323 This was a general
instruction to the AFRC troops as to how to conduct themselves during the entire
campaign, requiring them to kill, maim or amputate any civilian with whom they
came into contact, and requiring that towns and villages were to be burned and
that women and girls were free to satisfy the soldier’s sexual desires.”** Tt is
submitted that the order given by Brima, and reissued by Kanu, at the Orugu
Address prior to the Freetown invasion was a general reaffirmation of the order
given in the Mansofinia Address, and an order that the former order would
continue to apply throughout the Freetown invasion.

149. Reference has also been made in paragraph 143 above to various orders that Kanu
gave throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign for AFRC troops to commit
crimes.

150. The Prosecution submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion that any reasonable trier of fact could
reach was that in the particular factual circumstances that pertained during the
Bombali-Freetown Campaign, the orders to commit crimes that Kanu gave were
not merely orders to commit the specific crimes that were the subject of each of
those orders, but were orders that reaffirmed and reinforced the general order
given by Brima in the Mansofinia Address. This general order was again repeated

by Kanu in the Orugu Address. On this basis, the Prosecution submits that Kanu

321 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2063.

322 Gee Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para 774: “an Accused may be responsible for ‘reissuing illegal
orders’, i.e. for receiving a criminal order from a superior and, in turn, instructing subordinates to act upon it”.
323 See paragraphs 28, 39-41, 65, 77-79 and 82 above.

24 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1693-1694 (referring to the evidence of TF1-033), and 1695 (in
which the Trial Chamber clearly accepts this evidence). It is absolutely clear that the Trial Chamber accepted
this evidence also in paragraph 238 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.
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is individually responsible, under Article 6(1) of the Statute, for ordering all of the

crimes that were committed during the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

(iii). Instigating

151.
152.

153.

154.

Reference is made to paragraph 81 above.

The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings made by the Trial

Chamber, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the evidence

accepted by the Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier

of fact is that Kanu, by his conduct, instigated all of the crimes committed during
the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

Reference is made to paragraphs 135-138, 140-144 above. It is recalled in

particular that Kanu was present at the giving of the Mansofinia Address,*® ran

the meeting at which Brima gave the Orugu Address,*?® was present when Brima
gave the speech ordering the attack on Karina,”>’ and was for instance present
when Brima congratulated subordinates on a “job well done” after they reported
to him the killing of 25 civilians. He was also present, as Chief of Staff, when

Brima gave the order to attack and burn Karina, amputate the citizens, and capture

strong men, as a demonstration “to shock the whole country.”3 2

The Prosecution submits that the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of

fact is that Kanu’s conduct:

(1) in openly performing the functions that he did as Chief of Staff and a senior
commander of the AFRC forces throughout the Bombali-Freetown
Campaign;

(2) in leading or participating in operations in which crimes were committed, in

being present during operations when crimes were committed or when

325
326
327
328

)

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 576.

See paragraphs 66, 138 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1553, 1559, 1710.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2038.
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orders were given to commit crimes or when subordinate commanders
reported back on the commission of crimes; and
(3) in giving certain orders himself to commit crimes,
contributed significantly to the creation and maintenance of the enduring climate
of criminality that existed throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, and that
Kanu, together with Brima and others, thereby incited, solicited or otherwise
induced the AFRC troops to commit all of the crimes that were committed during

®  The Prosecution further

the course of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.®

submits that the only conclusion that could be reached by any reasonable trier of

fact is that this instigation was a factor substantially contributing to the

commission of the crimes, and that Kanu acted with direct intent or with the

awareness of the substantial likelihood that the crimes would be committed.”*’
The only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kanu is
individually responsible for “instigating” all of the crimes that were committed in
the course of that campaign.

155. The Trial Chamber in fact found that Kanu, through his participation at the
meeting at which the Orugu Address was given, “prompted” the perpetrators to
kill civilians in Freetown, and that the Prosecution had “proved this mode of
liability against the Accused Kanu”.>*' The Trial Chamber thus found that Kanu
was responsible for instigating the killing of an unspecified number of victims in
Frectown and the Western Area.”*® However, at the Orugu Address, Kanu in fact
reissued Brima’s order to loot, burn and kill and abduct civilians.>*® On the basis
of the Trial Chamber’s findings, he thereby, at the very least, ordered all of these
crimes in Freetown (as opposed to merely “instigating” killings). However, by
reissuing this order at the Orugu Address, the Prosecution submits that the only

possible inference is that Kanu thereby also instigated all of the other crimes that

were committed in Freetown and the Western Area.

Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 769.
Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 770.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2063.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2063.

See paragraph 66 above.
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(iv). Aiding and abetting

156. The Prosecution refers to paragraphs 89-92, and 124-125 above

157. The Trial Chamber specifically found that Kanu, who was in a superior-
subordinate relationship with the AFRC troops who committed the crimes, had
actual or imputed knowledge of the Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and
Western Area Crimes and failed to prevent or punish the perpetrators.*** For the
reasons given in paragraphs 90-91 above, in addition to giving rise to Article 6(3)
liability, this clearly had an encouraging effect on the AFRC troops to commit the
crimes, and also renders Kanu liable, under Article 6(1), for aiding and abetting
all of those crimes.

158. More generally, Kanu, by performing the functions of Chief of Staff and a senior
commander of the AFRC troops throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign,
necessarily made a substantial contribution to the execution of that campaign, of
which the commission of the crimes was an integral part. He therefore
necessarily made a substantial contribution to the commission of those crimes.

159. The Prosecution further submits that the conduct of Kanu referred to in
paragraphs  131-132, 135-138, 140-144, and 147-149 above provided
encouragement and moral support to the troops who committed these crimes and
had a substantial effect on the perpetration of all of the crimes by those troops.

160. The Prosecution submits that based on all of the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the
Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Kanu is therefore individually responsible for “aiding and abetting” all of the

Bombali District and Freetown and Western Area Crimes.

** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2044, 2080.
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(®.

161

162.

163.

164.

The Errors in the Trial Chamber’s evaluation of Article 6(3)
liability for the Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and the

Western Area Crimes

Brima

. It is possible for an Accused to be individually responsible under both Article 6(1)
of the Statute and under Article 6(3) of the Statute in respect of the same crime.**
The Trial Chamber determined that in this case, where the legal requirements

pertaining to both Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) of the Statute are met in relation to

L3+

a particular crime, the Trial Chamber would enter a conviction on the basis of

Article 6(1) only, and would consider the Accused’s superior position as an
aggravating factor in sentencing,>®

The Prosecution takes no issue in principle with the Trial Chamber taking this
approach, subject to the submissions made below in relation to the Prosecution’s
Ninth Ground of Appeal. However, it is submitted that if a Trial Chamber adopts
this approach, the Trial Chamber should make express findings in its reasoning in
the body of the Judgement as to the Article 6(3) responsibility of the Accused for
every crime. This is because if an Accused is found liable for a particular crime
under Article 6(1), and convicted on that basis without any finding as to the
Accused’s Article 6(3) responsibility in respect of that crime, the additional
Article 6(3) liability cannot be taken into account in sentencing.

The Trial Chamber found that Brima is individually responsible under Article
6(1) for the three enslavement crimes committed in Bombali District and
Freetown and the Western Area.>”’ Having made that finding, the Trial Chamber
decided that it was not necessary to examine his responsibility for the three

enslavement crimes under Article 6(3).

3% Kayishema Trial Judgement, para. 210. See Further Submissions in relation to the Prosecution’s Ninth

Ground of Appeal.

% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 800, 2110-2111.
*7 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1820-1837, especially paras 1835-1837.
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165. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber’s decision not to make any
finding of Brima’s responsibility for the three enslavement crimes under Article
6(3) was an error, for the reasons given in paragraphs 162-163 above. The
Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to reverse this decision.

166. Having reversed the Trial Chamber’s decision not to make any findings of
Brima’s Article 6(3) responsibility for the three enslavement crimes, the
Prosecution submits that it is unnecessary for the Appeals Chamber to remit the
case to the Trial Chamber for any further findings of fact on this issue. The
Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Brima is responsible under
Article 6(3) for all of the enslavement crimes committed in Bombali District and
in Freetown and the Western Area.

167. The Trial Chamber found that the three enslavement crimes were committed by
AFRC troops in Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western Area.>*® The
Trial Chamber also found that there was a superior-subordinate relationship

between Brima and the AFRC troops who committed these crimes in both

339 340

Bombali District™" and in Freetown and the Western Area.”* Therefore, the only
further facts that need to be found to establish Brima’s Article 6(3) responsibility
for these crimes are (1) Brima’s actual or imputed knowledge of these crimes, and
(2) Brima’s failure to prevent or punish the troops who committed these crimes.

168. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Brima had actual knowledge

of the three enslavement crimes, and that he failed to prevent or punish the troops
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1134-1135 (sexual slavery in Bombali District), paras 1150-1170
(sexual slavery in Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1244-1278, especially paras 1276-1278
(recruitment and use of child soldiers in both Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1351-1374
(abductions and forced labour in Bombali District), paras 1375-1389 (abductions and forced labour in
Freetown and the Western Area).

% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1273-1278.

** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1789-1805.
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for committing these crimes. This necessarily follows, in particular, from the
Trial Chamber’s finding that Brima “planned, organised and implemented the
system to abduct and enslave civilians”,**' that he “played a substantial role in the
system of exploitation and cruelty”,** that he had ordered the abduction of
civilians, ordered the distribution of children among captured commanders, had
addressed children after the completion of their military training and ordered that

343 and that he “was in a position to

they be distributed to the various companies,
shut down this system of exploitation entirely, to deter the excesses committed by
his troops, and to alleviate the plight of the victims ... [but] failed to do so”.**
This also necessarily follows from the Trial Chamber’s findings that the three
enslavement crimes were on a “large scale” and of a “continuous and organised

s 346

» 3 that they were “systemic”,**® and that they had an “established modus

nature”,
operandi” that was “so deeply entrenched that it was difficult to break”.>*’

The Prosecution therefore requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement by adding a finding that Brima is individually responsible
under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the three enslavement crimes in Bombali

District and Freetown and the Western Area.

(ii). Kamara

170.

(a) The Freetown and Western Area Crimes

In paragraphs 1942-1950 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, the Trial Chamber
deals with Kamara’s individual responsibility for the crimes committed in

Freetown and the Western Area (apart from the three enslavement crimes, the

341
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345
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1834.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1828.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1830-1831.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1832.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1826.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1823, 1824.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1825.
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Trial Chamber’s findings on which are dealt with in paragraphs 173-177 below).
The Trial Chamber ultimately found at paragraph 1950 that “the Accused Kamara
is liable as a superior under Article 6(3) for crimes committed in Freetown”.

171. The Prosecution submits that it is not clear why the Trial Chamber ultimately
found Kamara responsible under Article 6(3) for crimes in “Freetown”, rather
than the crimes in “Freetown and the Western Area”. The Prosecution submits
that it is clear from the findings in the section of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement
dealing with the Article 6(3) responsibility of Kamara in Freetown and the

348
Western Area

that Kamara was also responsible under Article 6(3) for the
crimes in the Western Area (but outside Freetown). The Trial Chamber found
that Kamara remained the number two in command of the AFRC troops after the
loss of State House and during the Freetown retreat, and that he took part in a
second attack on Freetown.”® The Trial Chamber also found that even after the
loss of State House, Kamara continued to be in a position to give orders to AFRC
troops.”” On the findings of the Trial Chamber, and in light of the submissions
made in paragraphs 95-127 above, the Prosecution submits that Kamara must also
be individually responsible under Article 6(3) for the crimes that were committed
in the Western Area but outside of Freetown.

172. The Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the finding in paragraph
1950 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, and to substitute a modified finding that
Kamara was responsible under Article 6(3) for all of the Freetown and Western

Area Crimes.

(b) The enslavement crimes

173. The Trial Chamber found that Kamara was individually responsible under Article

6(3) of the Statute for the three enslavement crimes committed in Kono

351

District,”" and that he was not individually criminally responsible under Article

6(3) of the Statute for the three enslavement crimes committed in Port Loko

*** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1942-1950.
**> Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 472-474.
**% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1947.

*! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1973-1975.
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District.® However, in the section of the Judgement dealing with the Article
6(3) responsibility of Kamara for the enslavement crimes, the Trial Chamber *>°
gave no consideration at all to the Article 6(3) responsibility of Kamara for the
enslavement crimes in Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area. The
Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber’s failure to give any consideration at
all to this question was a clear error.

174. As in the case of Brima, the Prosccution submits that it is unnecessary for the
Appeals Chamber to remit the case for any further findings of fact on this issue.
The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara was individually
responsible for the three enslavement crimes in Bombali District and in Freetown
and the Western Area.

175. The Trial Chamber found that the three enslavement crimes were committed by
AFRC troops in Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western Area.>>* The
Trial Chamber also found that there was a superior-subordinate relationship
between Kamara and the AFRC troops who committed these crimes in both

Bombali District®*’

and in Freetown.® For the reasons given in paragraphs 170-
172 above, the Prosecution submits that there was a superior-subordinate
relationship between Kamara and the AFRC troops who committed these crimes
in the Western Area, but outside Freetown. Therefore, the only further facts that
need to be found to establish Kamara’s Article 6(3) responsibility for these crimes
are (1) Kamara’s actual or imputed knowledge of these crimes, and (2) Kamara’s

failure to prevent or punish the troops who committed these crimes.
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1977.

** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1970-1977.

** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1134-1135 (sexual slavery in Bombali District), paras 1150-1170
(sexual slavery in Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1244-1278, especially paras 1276-1278
(recruitment and use of child soldiers in both Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1351-1374
(abductions and forced labour in Bombali District), paras 1375-1389 (abductions and forced labour in
Freetown and the Western Area).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1921-1928.

% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1944-1950,

355
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177.

The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara had actual
knowledge of the three enslavement crimes, and that he failed to prevent or
punish the troops for committing these crimes. This necessarily follows from the
Trial Chamber’s findings that the three enslavement crimes were on a “large
scale” and of a “continuous and organised nature”,*””  that they were
“systemic”,**® and that they had an “established modus operandi” that was “so
deeply entrenched that it was difficult to break”.>**

The Prosecution therefore requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement by adding a finding that Kamara is individually

responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the three enslavement crimes n

Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area.

(iii). Kanu

178.

179.

(a) The Freetown and Western Area Crimes

In paragraphs 2065-2080 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, the Trial Chamber
deals with Kanu’s individual responsibility for the crimes committed in F reetown
and the Western Area (apart from the three enslavement crimes, the Trial
Chamber’s findings on which are dealt with in paragraphs 183-188 below). The
Trial Chamber ultimately found at paragraph 2080 of the Trial Chamber’s
Judgement that “Kanu is liable as a superior under Article 6(3) for crimes
committed in the Western Area”.

The Prosecution submits that it is not clear why the Trial Chamber ultimately
found Kanu responsible under Article 6(3) for crimes in “the Western Area”,

rather than the crimes in “Freetown and the Western Area”. The Prosecution

357
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1826.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1823, 1824,
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1825.
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submits that this may in fact have been a typographical error. The Prosecution
notes that as Freetown is in the Western Area of Sierra Leone, technically the
wording of paragraph 2080 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement would cover the
crimes committed in Freetown. However, the use of the expression “Western
Area” as opposed to the expression “Freetown and the Western Area” which is
used consistently elsewhere in the Judgement, raises an unfortunate ambiguity in
this respect.

180. The Prosecution submits that it is clear from the findings in the section of the
Trial Chamber’s Judgement dealing with the Article 6(3) responsibility of Kanu
in Freetown and the Western Area’®® that Kanu was responsible under Article
6(3) for the crimes in Freetown, as well as the crimes in the Western Area (but
outside Freetown). The Trial Chamber found that Kanu was the third in
command in Freetown,*®! that he “possessed the material ability to effectively
control troops in Freetown until the loss of State House”,**? that the fact that he
ordered the commission of crimes in Freetown is evidence of his ability to control
AFRC troops subordinate to him,’® and that “a superior-subordinate relationship
existed between the Accused Kanu and the AFRC troops in Freetown” 36 The
Trial Chamber further found that Kany had reason to know of the commission of
crimes committed before the loss of State House,365 and that there is “no evidence
that the Accused Kanu took any measures to prevent the troops under his contro]
in Freetown from committing crimes against [sic] or punish the perpetrators of
such crimes”.**® The Trial Chamber further found that Kanu retained his position
as Chief of Staff and commander in charge of abducted civilians throughout the
attack on Freetown and the retreat to Newton (in the Western Area).*®’

181. If the reference in paragraph 2080 to Kanu being liable under Article 6(3) for

crimes in “the Western Area” is intended by the Trial Chamber to include

* Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2067-2079.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2070,

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2072.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2075,

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2076,

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2077.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2079.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 535.
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Freetown, the Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to affirm that finding,
and to find expressly that Kanu was also responsible under Article 6(3) for the
crimes committed in Freetown.

182. If the Appeals Chamber finds that the reference in paragraph 2080 to Kanu being
liable under Article 6(3) for crimes in “the Western Area” does not include
Freetown, the Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to revise that finding,
and to substitute a modified finding that Kanu was responsible under Article 6(3)

for all of the Freetown and Western Area Crimes.

(b) The enslavement crimes

183. The Trial Chamber found that Kanu is individually responsible under Article 6(1)
for the three enslavement crimes committed in Bombali District and Freetown and
the Western Area.’® However, the Trial Chamber gave no consideration at all to
his responsibility for the three enslavement crimes under Article 6(3).

184. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber’s failure to make any finding of
Kanu'’s responsibility for the three enslavement crimes under Article 6(3) was an
error, for the reasons given in paragraphs 162-163 above. The Prosecution
requests the Trial Chamber to reverse this decision.

185. As in the cases of Brima and Kamara, the Prosecution submits that it is
unnecessary for the Appeals Chamber to remit the case for any further findings of
fact on this issue. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings
contained in the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of
those findings and the evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those
findings, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kanu was
individually responsible for the three enslavement crimes in Bombali District and
Freetown.

186. The Trial Chamber found that the three enslavement crimes were committed by

AFRC troops in Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western Area.*® The

3% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2089-2098, especially paras 2096-2098.
3 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1134-1135 (sexual slavery in Bombali District), paras 1150-1170
(sexual slavery in Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1244-1278, especially paras 1276-1278
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Trial Chamber also found that there was a superior-subordinate relationship
between Kanu and the AFRC troops who committed these crimes in both

: 71
370 and in Freetown and the Western Area.’

Bombali District Therefore, the only
further facts that need to be found to establish Kanu’s Article 6(3) responsibility
for these crimes are (1) Kanu’s actual or imputed knowledge of these crimes, and
(2) Kanu’s failure to prevent or punish the troops who committed these crimes.

187. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kanu had actual knowledge
of the three enslavement crimes, and that he failed to prevent or punish the troops
for committing these crimes. This necessarily follows, in particular, from the
Trial Chamber’s finding that Kanu “planned, organised and implemented the
system to abduct and enslave civilians”,*’? that he “designed and implemented a
system to control abducted girls and women”,”” and that he “was the Commander
of the AFRC fighting force in charge of abducted civilians including women and
children”*”* This is also evident from the evidence of TF1-334 and George
Johnson, both of whom were found by the Trial Chamber to be credible

witnesses,375

that Kanu was in charge of military training at Camp Rosos,
including the training of abducted civilian adults and children.*”® This also
necessarily follows from The Trial Chamber’s findings that the three enslavement

crimes were on a “large scale” and of a “continuous and organised nature”,’’’ that

(recruitment and use of child soldiers in both Freetown and the Western Area), paras 1351-1374
(abductions and forced labour in Bombali District), paras 1375-1389 (abductions and forced labour in
Freetown and the Western Area).

™ Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2032-2044.

' Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2065-2080, and see paragraphs 178-182 above.

*”2 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2095.

°” Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 2092,

7* Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 526, 2067.

°” The Trial Chamber finds TF1-334’s testimony reliable at para. 359 and George Johnson’s testimony

reliable at para. 370 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 525.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1826.

3
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they were “systemic”,””® and that they had an “established modus operandi” that
was “so deeply entrenched that it was difficult to break”.’”

188. The Prosecution therefore requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement by adding a finding that Kanu is individually responsible
under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the three enslavement crimes in Bombali

District and Freetown and the Western Area.

H. Crimes encompassed in other Grounds of Appeal

189. It follows from all of the above submissions that all three Accused in this case are
individually responsible, under both Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) of the Statute,
for all of the Bombali District Crimes and Freetown and Western Area Crimes, as
defined in paragraph 9 above.

190. In certain of its other Grounds of Appeal in this appeal, the Prosecution submits
that the Trial Chamber erred in not finding that certain other crimes were
committed by AFRC troops in Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western
Area. It follows from all of the above submissions that, to the extent that these
other grounds of appeal are upheld by the Appeals Chamber, all three Accused in
this case are individually responsible, under both Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) of
the Statute, for all such crimes encompassed within those other grounds of appeal

that were committed in Bombali District or in Freetown and Western Area.

I. Conclusion

191. For the reasons given above, the Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to
reverse the Trial Chamber’s findings that Brima, Kamara and Kanu are not

individually responsible, under Article 6(1) and/or Article 6(3) of the Statute, for

" Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1823, 1824.
" Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1825.
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certain of the crimes in Bombali District and in Freetown and the Western Area,
and to revise the Trial Chamber’s Judgement by adding further findings:

(i) that Brima, Kamara and Kanu are each individually responsible under
Article 6(1) of the Statute for planning, instigating, ordering, and/or
otherwise aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation or execution of all
of the crimes that the Trial Chamber found to have been committed in
Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area; and

(i) that Brima, Kamara and Kanu are each individually responsible under
Article 6(3) for all of those crimes.

192. The Prosecution also requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the Trial Chamber’s
Judgement by making a further finding that in respect of all of the crimes
committed in Bombali District and Freetown and the Western Area that are
encompassed within the Prosecution’s other Grounds of Appeal, to the extent that
the other Grounds of Appeal are upheld:

(1) Brima, Kamara and Kanu are each individually responsible under Article
6(1) of the Statute for committing, and/or planning, instigating, ordering,
and/or otherwise aiding and abetting in the planning, preparation or
execution of those crimes; and

(i1) Brima, Kamara and Kanu are each individually responsible under Article
6(3) of the Statute for those crimes.

193. The Prosecution also requests the Appeals Chamber to make any resulting
amendments to the Disposition of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, and to increase
the sentences imposed on Brima, Kamara and Kanu to reflect the additional

criminal liability.
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III. Prosecution’s Second Ground of Appeal: The Trial
Chamber’s omission to make findings on crimes in certain
locations

A. Introduction

194. In the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, the Trial Chamber did not make findings as to
whether certain crimes had been committed in certain locations, even though
evidence had been presented at trial that such crimes had been committed in those
locations.

195. The alleged crimes on which the Trial Chamber did not make findings, and to
which this Ground of Appeal relates, are set out in Appendix B to this Appeal
Brief.

196. In relation to some of these crimes,’ 80

the Trial Chamber expressly indicated that
the reason why it would not make findings was that the location of the crime had
not been specifically pleaded in the Indictment in the paragraphs relating to the
relevant Count(s). In other instances, the Trial Chamber did not expressly give
any reason for failing to consider the evidence of the crimes. However, as all of
the crimes set out in Appendix B were in locations that had not been specifically
pleaded in the Indictment in the paragraphs relating to the relevant Count(s), it
can be inferred that the Trial Chamber adopted the same reasoning in relation to
all of these crimes. The Trial Chamber said in its Judgement that it would “not
make any finding on crimes perpetrated in locations not specifically pleaded in
the Indictment”.*®!

197. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber thereby erred. The Prosecution
submits that each of the crimes referred to in Appendix B was properly pleaded in

the Indictment (see Section B below). Alternatively, the Prosecution submits that

to the extent that any of these crimes was not adequately pleaded in the

%0 Except where from the context another meaning is intended, in this Ground of Appeal the expression
“crimes” is used to mean alleged crimes.
*! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 38 (emphasis added).
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Indictment, the defect in the Indictment was subsequently cured by the provision
of timely, clear and consistent information by the Prosecution (see Section C

below). The remedy sought by the Prosecution is dealt with in Section D below.

First error of the Trial Chamber: The finding that these
crimes were not pleaded in the indictment

198. The Trial Chamber found that “the Prosecution has led a considerable amount of
evidence with respect to killings, sexual violence, physical violence, enslavement
and pillage which occurred in locations not charged in the indictment”.”®* The
Trial Chamber went on to hold that it would “not make any finding on crimes
perpetrated in locations not specifically pleaded in the Indictment” and that such
evidence would only be considered “for proof of the chapeau requirements of
Articles 2, 3 and 4 where appropriate, that is the widespread or systematic nature
of the crimes and an armed conflict”.*®?

199. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in so finding. Even where
a particular location was not specifically listed in relation to a particular Count in
the Indictment, that location was nonetheless pleaded in the Indictment.

200. In the paragraphs of the Indictment alleging the specific crimes charged in the
Indictment, each paragraph typically alleged that crimes of a particular nature
were committed in a particular District.>® Within each of these paragraphs, it

was typically alleged that the crimes in question were committed in “various”

locations within the District, “including” certain specified locations.*®® The use of

382
383
384
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 37.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 38.

Thus, for instance, in the section of the Indictment dealing with unlawful killings (paragraphs 42-50),
paragraph 43 dealt with unlawful killings in Bo District, paragraph 44 dealt with unlawful killings in
Kenema District, paragraph 45 dealt with unlawful killings in Kono District, and so forth. There were
some exceptions to this: see, for instance the section dealing with acts of terror and collective
punishments (paragraph 41), and the section dealing with child soldiers (paragraph 65).

Indictment, paras 44-50, 52, 54, 59-61, 69, 72, 73,76, 77 and 79; see also paras 53 and 78 which use the
expression “such as” instead of “including” with, obviously, the same meaning. There were some
exceptions: see paras 55, 57, 62, 64, 70 and 71 of the Indictment, which alleged that the crimes were
committed “in various locations in the District”, but which did not specify any particular locations. In
some instances, the locations were exhaustively mentioned: see paras 43, 67 and 75.
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the word “including” made clear that the Indictment alleged that the relevant
crimes were also committed in locations in the relevant District other than those
expressly mentioned. All of the crimes referred to in Appendix B were therefore
clearly encompassed within the plain meaning of the wording of the Indictment.
201. At the pre-trial stage in this case, Kamara filed a preliminary motion arguing that

the Indictment was defective for lack of specificity in pleading the locations in

which crimes were alleged to have been committed.’*®

202. Trial Chamber I, which decided Kamara’s preliminary motion, had previously
decided in the Sesay case that a similar form of pleading in the RUF Indictment

was not defective. It held that:

... the Defence takes objection to the general formulation of the
counts in certain particular respects. The main submission is that
general formulations like “such as” or “various locations”, or
“yarious areas...including” do not specify or limit the reading of
the counts but expand the Indictment without concretely
identifying precise allegations against the Accused. The pith of the
Defence submission is that these phrases are imprecise and non-
restrictive. The Chamber’s response to this submission is that it is
inaccurate to suggest that the phrases “various locations” and
“various areas including” in the relevant counts are completely
devoid of details as to what is being alleged. Whether they are
permissible or not depends primarily upon the context. For
example, paragraphs 41, 44, 45 and 51 allege that the acts took
place in various locations within those districts, a much narrower
geographical unit than, for example, “within the Southern or
Eastern Province” or “within Sierva Leone.” This is clearly
permissible in situations where the alleged criminality was of what
seems to be cataclysmic dimensions. By parity of reasoning, the
phrase “such as” and “including but not limited to” would, in
similar situations, be acceptable if the reference is, likewise, to
locations but not otherwise. It is, therefore, the Chamber’s
thinking that taking the Indictment in its entirety, it is difficult to
fathom how the Accused is unfairly prejudiced by the use of the
said phrases in the context herein ... The Defence protestation, is
therefore, untenable.”*’

3% Kamara Preliminary Motion, p. 5.
3%7 Sesay Preliminary Motion Decision, para. 23 (emphasis in bold added).
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203. In its decision on the Kamara Preliminary Motion, Trial Chamber I followed its
earlier decision in the Sesay case, and dismissed Kamara’s objection to the way
that the locations had been pleaded for the same reasons.>*"

204. At the pre-trial stage, Kanu also filed a preliminary motion alleging defects in the
form of the indictment,*® but did not argue in this motion that the way in which
the locations had been pleaded was defective. Indeed, the Kanu preliminary
motion appeared to accept the earlier ruling of Trial Chamber I in the Sesay case
in this respect.”” Consistently with its earlier ruling in Sesay, Trial Chamber I
noted in its decision on the Kanu preliminary motion that:

In so far as the phrase “included but were not limited to” is
concerned, the Court’s decision in Sesay left open the possibility

that the said phrase could be impermissibly broad if it referred to
“events” as distinct from “‘locations” and “dates” >

205. Brima also filed a preliminary motion on defects in the form of the Indictment,’*?

which was however rejected by Trial Chamber II on the ground that it had been
filed out of time.*” This preliminary motion in any event did not allege that the
Indictment failed to plead locations with sufficient specificity.

206. Thus, the Prosecution was entitled to proceed at trial on the basis that the
Indictment was not defective in pleading the locations of crimes in the way that it
did, and that any Defence issue in this respect had been settled by pre-trial
decisions of the Trial Chamber.

207. At the Rule 98 stage, the Defence did not raise any issue that the Indictment was
defective in the way that it pleaded the locations of crimes.*® In its Rule 98

Decision, the Trial Chamber said at paragraph 19:

We note that when citing locations where the various criminal acts
are alleged to have taken place the language used in the particulars
of the Indictment is not exhaustive and often uses the preposition
“including” when referring to those locations. Given the

388
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Kamara Preliminary Motion Decision, paras 40-43.

Kanu Preliminary Motion.

% Ibid., para. 13.

¥! Kanu Preliminary Motion Decision, para. 17 (emphasis in bold added).
2 Brima Preliminary Motion.

Brima Preliminary Motion Decision; See further paragraphs 359 below.
See paragraph 232 below.
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“widespread” nature of the alleged crimes, it would in our view,
be impracticable for the Indictment to name exhaustively every
single location throughout the territory of Sierra Leone where
these criminal acts allegedly took place. We do not understand
the Indictment to be limited to only those villages or locations
named in the particulars. Clearly the Prosecution may (as indeed it
has done in some instances) adduce evidence of alleged crimes in
other villages not specified in the Indictment, in order to
demonstrate the “widespread or systematic” nature of the attack on
the civilian population.

208. In paragraph 20 of the Rule 98 Decision, the Trial Chamber went on to say:

We note that the locations specified in Annex A to the Prosecution
Response are all within Districts named in the Counts in question.
We also note that in all cases, the Prosecution has led evidence in
relation to all the other locations specified in the Indictment. In
some instances evidence was led in relation to villages or locations
that were not specified in the Indictment but which are located
within the Districts pleaded. Ultimately, the Trial Chamber will
take all this evidence into account in determining whether or not
the Prosecution evidence in relation to each Count is capable of
supporting a conviction against the accused on that count.™”

209. Paragraph 19 of the Rule 98 Decision was referred to in paragraph 37 of the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, in support of the proposition that “while such evidence
may support proof of the existence of an armed conflict or a widespread or
systematic attack on a civilian population, no finding of guilt for those crimes
may be made in respect of such locations not mentioned in the indictment”**
However, contrary to what this paragraph of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement
appears to suggest, the final sentence of paragraph 19 of the Rule 98 Decision
quoted above cannot be taken as having given notice to the parties that the Trial
Chamber had taken a decision not to consider evidence relating to locations not

specifically pleaded in relation to a particular Count in the Indictment (but

included in the general wording of the Indictment) otherwise than for the purpose

3% Rule 98 Decision, para. 20 (emphasis added).
3% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 37, footnote 60 and accompanying text. See also Trial Chamber’s
Judgement, para. 38, footnote 63 and accompanying text.
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of establishing whether there was a widespread and systematic attack against the
civilian population.

210. This last sentence of paragraph 19 of the Rule 98 Decision appeared in a section
of the Rule 98 Decision dealing with the issue of whether the Trial Chamber
would, at the Rule 98 stage, only consider whether a Count as a whole should be
dismissed under Rule 98, or whether the Trial Chamber would consider whether
the Rule 98 standard was met in relation to each individual location in which
alleged crimes under that Count were committed. This part of the Rule 98
Decision gave no indication that the Trial Chamber was giving consideration to
any issue as to whether or not the Indictment was defective for failing to
particularize locations adequately. The emphasized portions of the above quotes
from paragraphs 19 and 20 of the Rule 98 Decision in fact expressly reflect the
conclusion of Trial Chamber I in the Sesay Decision and in the decisions on the
preliminary motions filed in the present case. The last sentence of paragraph 19
of the Rule 98 Decision indicated that the Trial Chamber would consider evidence
of crimes in locations not specifically mentioned in relation to a particular Count
in the Indictment when determining the “widespread or systematic” nature of the
attack on the civilian population. However, the Trial Chamber did not expressly
say that it would enly consider such evidence for that purpose.

211. Even if the Trial Chamber had at the Rule 98 stage taken a decision that 1t would
not consider evidence relating to locations not specifically pleaded in the
Indictment (and the Prosecution was not obliged to assume that it had), the
Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law, or committed a
procedural error, for the reasons given in paragraphs 366-369 and 371 below,
namely that the Trial Chamber thereby reversed previous interlocutory decisions
in the case, or decided proprio motu that the Indictment was defective, without
first giving notice to the parties, and without first giving the parties the
opportunity to argue the point. For the reasons given in paragraph 545-546
below, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber’s decision, in paragraph 39
of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, to “not make any finding on crimes

perpetrated in locations not specifically pleaded in the Indictment” should be
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reversed, unless any of the Accused in this case establishes not only that ig?
pleading of locations in the Indictment was defective, but also discharges the
burden of establishing that his ability to prepare his defence was actually
materially impaired by that defect.

212. The Prosecution submits that the Indictment was in fact not defective in the way
that it pleaded the locations of the crimes, for the reasons given by Trial Chamber
I in the Sesay Decision and in its decisions on the Defence preliminary motions in
this case, referred to above.

213. The Trial Chamber, in paragraph 37 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, referred
to a number of authorities in support of its finding that no finding of guilt may be
made for crimes in respect of locations not specifically mentioned in the
indictment.

214. The first was a decision of this Appeals Chamber in the Norman case.””” The
paragraph in that decision cited by the Trial Chamber did not in fact expressly
address at all the question of whether an Accused could be convicted on a Count
in respect of crimes committed in a location not specifically mentioned in an
indictment but encompassed within the generality of its wording. Rather, that
decision in the Norman case was concerned with the question whether new
charges can be added by an amendment to the indictment after trial has
commenced, and made general observations to the effect that the Prosecution
must “be selective in deciding which charges to include in a trial Indictment”.**®
That decision, it is submitted, was not on point. Indeed as the Appeals Chamber

recognised in that case, under the Rules of the Special Court, an indictment is

required to contain even less information than an indictment before the ICTY or

7 CDF Indictment Appeal Decision, para. 82.

*® Ibid. This paragraph of the CDF decision states: “The overriding duty of a Prosecutor — what determines,
in fact, his or her professional ability — is to shape a trial by selecting just so many charges that can most
readily be proved and which carry a penalty appropriate to the overall criminality of the Accused. In
national systems, this is reflected in Prosecution practices of selecting specimen charges or proceeding
only on certain counts of a long Indictment. In international courts, where defendants may be accused of
command responsibility for hundreds if not thousands of war crimes at the end of a war that has lasted
for years, the need to be selective in deciding which charges to include in a trial Indictment is a test of
Prosecution professionalism. In this respect, the Trial Chamber must oversee the Indictment, in the
interests of producing a trial which is manageable”.
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ICTR. **° At the Special Court, some information that would be pleaded in an

indictment at the ICTY or the ICTR is provided instead by a Case Summary

(which does not form part of the indictment) or by other subsequent notice.*®

215. The second authority referred to in paragraph 37 of the Trial Chamber’s
Judgement was the Rule 98bis decision [= Special Court Rules, Rule 98] of the
ICTY Trial Chamber in the Brdanin case.*”’ The quoted paragraph from that
decision dealt with a charge of persecution in the indictment, in which it was
alleged that the accused was responsible for “the denial of fundamental rights to
Bosnian Muslims and Bosnian Croats, including the right to employment,
freedom of movement, right to proper judicial process, or right to proper medical
care”.*> The Trial Chamber in the Brdanin case” decided that it would not
consider acts of persecution consisting of the denial of rights other than those that
had been specifically mentioned. This authority was also not dealing with the
issue of the specificity with which locations of crime scenes must be pleaded in
an indictment.

216. The third authority referred to in paragraph 37 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement
was paragraph 397 of the Brdanin Trial Judgement.*** In that paragraph of the
Brdanin Trial Judgement, the ICTY Trial Chamber said that:

... the Trial Chamber finds that evidence was adduced with respect
to a number of killings which were not charged in the Indictment.
While such evidence may support the proof of the existence of an
armed conflict or a widespread or systematic attack on a civilian
population, no finding of guilt for the crimes of wilful murder or

extermination may be made in respect of such uncharged
incidents.*®

217. However, the indictment in the Brdanin case was very different from the

Indictment in the present case. In the Brdanin case, the killings were alleged in

% Ibid, paras 49-53

‘9 Ibid, paras 51-52

“! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 37, footnote 62, referring to Brdanin Rule 98bis Decision, para. 88.
“2 See Brdanin Rule 98bis Decision, para 84.

493" As well as the Trial Chamber in the Staki¢ Trial Judgement, referred to in Brdanin Rule 98bis Decision
and in the footnote 62 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 37, footnotes 60, 62 and 63, referring to Brdanin Trial Judgement,
para. 397.

Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 397, footnote omitted.
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paragraphs 38 and 41 of the Brdanin indictment.*® Each of those paragraphs
alleged, in a single paragraph, killings in a variety of different Municipalities [=
Districts] in Bosnia and Herzegovina over a period of some 6 months. That is
very different from the Indictment in the present case, in which each paragraph of
the indictment deals with a single District of Sierra Leone only, and in which the
timeframe for each paragraph is often much shorter. In any event, the Brdanin
Trial Judgement was only a judgement at the Trial Chamber level, and must be
considered in the context of other ICTY and ICTR case law at the Appeals and
Trial Chamber levels.

218. The fourth and fifth authorities relied upon by the Trial Chamber were the
decisions of Trial Chamber I on the Kamara and Kanu preliminary motions
alleging defects in the form of the Indictment. For the reasons given in
paragraphs 201-205 above, these decisions of Trial Chamber I in fact decided the
very opposite of what the Trial Chamber decided in paragraph 37 of the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement.

219. The issue of the specificity with which locations must be pleaded in an indictment
has been determined in decisions of the ICTY and ICTR at the Appeals Chamber
level.*

220. The general principle is that the location of the crimes alleged to have been
committed should be specified in the indictment, but that the degree of specificity
required will depend on the nature of the Prosecution’s case.*® The case law
acknowledges that in some cases, the sheer scale of the alleged crimes makes it
impracticable to require a high degree of specificity in such matters as the identity
of the victims and the dates for the commission of the crimes.*®”® Where it is the

Prosecution case that the Accused personally committed an act in a particular

‘% Brdanin Sixth Amended Indictment, paras 38-41.

As noted in paragraph 214 above, the Rules of the ICTY and the ICTR require a greater degree of

specificity than is required by the Rules of the Special Court.

“® Bagosora Appeal Decision para. 27; Kupreski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 89; Krnojelac Appeal
Judgement, para. 132; Bla3ki¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 210, 212-213, 216-218; Kvocka Appeal
Judgement, para. 28; Naletili¢ and Martinovié Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Cyangugu Appeal
Judgement, paras 23-26.

" Kupreski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 89; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 132, Brdanin and Tali¢

Form of Indictment Decision, para. 22.
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location, the Prosecution may be expected to plead that location in the indictment,

even if that act was committed in the context of a large scale and widespread

attack.”’®  However, where crimes on a very large scale are alleged, and

particularly where the accused was not personally present at all locations where

crimes were committed, details of the precise locations of events need not be

pleaded if the sheer scale of the alleged crimes makes it impracticable to do so.*!"
All that 1s required is that the Prosecution should plead such details, if it is in a
position to do so.*'?

221. The Trial Chamber’s Judgement generally acknowledged these principles in this
case,’? but failed to apply them to the issue of the alleged lack of specificity in
the pleading of locations. In the present case, the Trial Chamber expressly
acknowledged “that the prolonged nature of these crimes, especially in the
context of the Sierra Leone conflict where the perpetrators were often on the
move between villages and Districts for a significant period of time, may make
pleading particular locations difficult”.*"

222. Where an indictment does not plead the precise details of all locations of alleged
crimes, the defence may apply for appropriate relief where evidence is presented
of crimes committed in locations not specifically pleaded in the indictment. The
measures that the defence could seek, and which the Trial Chamber could grant if
it considered this necessary to prevent prejudice to the defence, would include an
adjournment, or even the exclusion of the evidence in question.*'?

223. The Defence made no motions during the trial seeking such relief in respect of

Prosecution evidence of crimes in locations not specifically pleaded in relation to

410

Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, paras 73-75, 95-96; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 132;
Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 50.

Naletilic and Martinovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Kvolka Appeal Judgement, para. 434;
Bagosora Appeal Decision, para. 27; Ntakirutimana Trial Judgement, paras 49, 55, 57; Ndindabahizi
Appeal Judgement, paras 16, 20; Niyitigeka Appeal Judgement, para. 193. See also Kupreskic
Appeal Judgement, paras 89-92; Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 25.

Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 25; Niyitigeka Appeal Judgement, para. 193. See also
Ntakirutimana Trial Judgement, para. 58, Bla§ki¢ Appeal Judgement, para 209.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 28-31, especially the last sentence of para. 31: “But even in cases
where personal participation is alleged, the nature or scale of the alleged crimes may render it
impracticable to particularise the identity of every victim or the dates of commission”.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 40.

Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 25. See also Naletilié¢ and Martinovi¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 25.
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a particular Count in the Indictment. In the circumstances, at this stage on appeal,
the Defence has waived its right to argue now that it was thereby prejudiced.
Curiously, the Trial Chamber itself expressly found that “that failure to object to
the admissibility of evidence on material facts not pleaded in the Indictment
constitutes a waiver and the Defence may not later raise an objection that it was
not sufficiently put on notice”.*'® The Trial Chamber did in fact apply this
principle to the issue of the specificity of the pleading of locations in relation to
the three enslavement crimes in the Indictment (charged in Counts 7, 9, 12 and
13).*'” However, the Trial Chamber failed to apply this principle to the issue of
the specificity of the pleading of locations in relation to the other Counts.

224. In any event, the Defence did not thereby suffer any prejudice, for the reasons
given in the paragraphs of Section C below.

225. 1t is therefore submitted that the Indictment was not defective for failing to
specify all locations within a particular district in which alleged crimes were

committed.

C. Second error of the Trial Chamber: The failure of the Trial
Chamber to find that any defect had been cured

226. It is a well-established principle in international criminal tribunals that in some
instances, a defect in an indictment can be deemed “cured” if the Prosecution
provides the accused with timely, clear and consistent information detailing the
factual basis underpinning the charges against him or her.*® The question
whether the Prosecution has cured a defect in the indictment has been said to be
equivalent to the question whether the defect has caused any prejudice to the

Defence or, whether the trial was “rendered unfair” by the defect.*’® As the Trial

*° Trial Chamber’s J udgement, para. 49, citing Kayishema Appeal Judgement, para. 91; Ntakirutimana

Appeal Judgement, para. 52.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 40-41.

Cyangugu Appeal Judgement, para 28 See also Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 27; Kvodka
Appeal Judgement, para 33; Naletili¢ and Martinovié Appeal Judgement, para 26; Kupreskié Appeal
Judgement, para. 114. See also the references in footnote 58 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.
Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 27.
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Chamber put it in this case, “in assessing whether a defective indictment was
cured, the issue is whether the accused was in a reasonable position to understand
the charges against him or her”.**

227. The Prosecution submits that if the Indictment was defective for failing to specify
all locations in which alleged crimes were committed (and for the reasons given
above, it is submitted that it was not), the Trial Chamber erred in failing to
consider whether any such defects were subsequently cured.

228. The Trial Chamber found (correctly it is submitted) that in making this
determination, a Trial Chamber must consider the Prosecution’s pre-trial brief, its
opening statement, and disclosed evidence such as witness statements or potential
exhibits, and whether the Prosecution served any witness lists containing a
summary of the facts and clearly identifying the charges in the indictment as to
which each witness will testify.*!

229. Appendix B to this Appeal Brief sets out in relation to each of the crimes to which
this Ground of Appeal relates where that crime was dealt with in the Prosecution
Pre-Trial Brief (Column 7), the Prosecution Supplemental Pre-Trial Brief
(Column 8), the Prosecution Rule 98 Brief (Column 9), and the Prosecution Final
Trial Brief (Column 10). The Prosecution notes that the Prosecution
Supplemental Pre-Trial Brief also contained a 109 page annex of summaries of
the evidence that each of the proposed Prosecution witnesses was expected to
give.*?

230. The Trial Chamber also considered (correctly it is submitted) that a failure in the
Indictment to plead sufficient particulars will be deemed cured, or that the
Defence will have waived its right to object, if the Defence fails to object when

evidence is led by the Prosecution in relation to the crime in question,*” and in

# Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 43, referring to Kordi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 142; Rutaganda

Appeal Judgement, para. 303.

' Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 48, referring to Naletili¢ and Martinovi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras
27, 45, and Gacumbtsi Appeal Judgement, paras 57-58. See also Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para.
50(ii).

Prosecution Supplemental Pre-Trial Brief, Annex A, Registry page nos. 1341-1450,

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 50(iii), 1754, 1759, 2051.

~
o
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particular, where the Defence cross-examines the witness on the specific incident
in question.***

231. The Defence in this case raised no objections when witnesses presented evidence
of crimes in locations not specifically pleaded in the Indictment. The Trial
Chamber considered that “the Defence did in fact constantly complain about the
vagueness of the Indictment throughout the trial, pursuant to Rule 72(B)(ii), the
Pre-Trial Brief, the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal and the Final Brief’ **
However, apart from the Kamara Preliminary Motion, none of the Accused
specifically complained about lack of specificity in the pleading of locations in
the Indictment. The Defence complaints about vagueness related to other
matters.*** More importantly, the Defence never sought relief of the kind referred
to in paragraph 223 above during the course of the trial.

232. Furthermore, as indicated in the table in Appendix B, in relation to all of the
locations in question, the Defence either cross-examined the Prosecution
witnesses giving the evidence (Column 4) or led its own evidence on the location
(Column 5), and in most cases did both.

233. Furthermore, some of the locations not specifically mentioned in the Indictment
in relation to one Count were specifically mentioned in relation to other Counts.
For instance, Koinadugu Town was not specifically mentioned in paragraph 61 of
the Indictment which alleged acts of physical violence in various locations in
Koinadugu District. However, Koinadugu Town was mentioned in other
paragraphs in the Indictment alleging other crimes committed in Koinadugu
District, namely paragraphs 47 (unlawful killings) and 69 (alleging abductions
and forced labour). The Indictment itself thus put the Defence on notice that
Koinadugu Town was one of the locations where attacks against the civilian
population allegedly occurred, from which it could be inferred that Koinadugu
Town was one of the other locations in Koinadugu District in which physical

violence was alleged to have occurred. In the table in Appendix B, Column 6

! Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 50(iii), 1763, 1769, 2051.

*> Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 24.

" See Brima Final Trial Brief, paras 126-156, Kamara Final Trial Brief, paras 37-40 and 89-103, and
Kanu Final Trial Brief, paras 291 to 292. See also Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 22-23.
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indicates where locations not specifically pleaded in relation to one Count were
nonetheless pleaded in relation to other Counts.

234. In the light of all of these factors, the Prosecution submits that any defects in the
Indictment relating to the specificity of the pleaded locations were subsequently

cured.

D.  The requested remedy

235. It is submitted that the Trial Chamber clearly accepted the evidence referred to in
paragraphs 1615-1627 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, relating to the attacks
to and from Gberi Bana in Port Loko District by AFRC troops under the
command of Kamara, including the attack on Mamamah.*”’” The Prosecution
therefore requests the Appeals Chamber to revise the Trial Chamber’s J udgement
by adding a finding that Kamara’s convictions on Counts 4 and 5 under Article
6(3) for unlawful killings in Port Loko District'?® also include his individual
responsibility for these unlawful killings in Port Loko District.

236. The result of this revision of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement is that if the
Prosecution’s Third Ground of Appeal is upheld, Kamara’s convictions on Counts
4 and 5 (including in relation to the killings in Mamamah and other killings
committed in the attacks to and from Gberi Bana) would be formally entered
under Article 6(1) rather than Article 6(3), but with his Article 6(3) responsibility
being taken into account in sentencing. The result would also be that Kamara’s
conviction on Counts 1 and 2 (acts of terror and collective punishments) would
include his individual responsibility for the unlawful killings in Mamamah and
other killings committed in the attacks to and from Gberi Bana. If the
Prosecution’s Fourth Ground of Appeal is upheld, Brima and Kanu would also be
individually responsible under Article 6(1) for these unlawful killings and acts of
terror and collective punishments, on the basis of joint criminal enterprise

liability.

**7 See also Section E of the Prosecution’s Fourth Ground of Appeal below.
“*® See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 965, read together with para. 1969.
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237. Inrespect of all of the other crimes set out in Appendix B to this Appeal Brief, the
Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to remit the case to the Trial Chamber

for further findings of fact on whether these crimes were committed and whether

each of the Accused is individually responsible for these crimes.
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IV.  Prosecution’s Third Ground of Appeal: Failure of the
Trial Chamber to find Kamara individually responsible
under Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) for all crimes committed
in Port Loko District

A. Introduction

238. The Indictment charged all three Accused, under both Article 6(1) and Article
6(3) of the Statute, with numerous crimes committed in Port Loko District
between February 1999 and April 1999.% As set out in detail below, the Trial
Chamber found that various crimes were indeed committed by AFRC forces in
Port Loko District during this period.

239. The AFRC troops remained in Freetown for about 3 weeks, but were forced to
make a controlled retreat, due to attacks by ECOMOG forces.**® This attack on
Freetown by AFRC forces and their subsequent retreat are dealt with in further
detail in the Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal above, where these events are
referred to as the “Freetown invasion” and “Freetown retreat” respectively.
Following the retreat from Freetown, Brima and Kamara took part in a second
attack on Freetown with the participation of RUF commanders; this operation was

43]
1.9

unsuccessfu The AFRC forces then reorganised and established bases in the

Western Area, including Newton and Benguema,™? while the RUF forces went to

4
Lunsar.*

429

Indictment, para. 50 (Counts 3-5), para. 57 (Counts 6-9), para. 64 (Counts 10-1 1), para. 73 (Count 13).
In relation to Count 12, paragraph 65 of the Indictment charged all three Accused with criminal
responsibility for the recruitment and use of child soldiers “At all times relevant to this Indictment,
throughout the Republic of Sierra Leone”, which included Port Loko District. Counts 1 and 2
(terrorising the civilian population and collective punishments respectively) were based on all of the
other crimes pleaded in the Indictment (Indictment, para. 41), and therefore included all of the crimes
alleged in the Indictment to have been committed in Port Loko District.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 206.

1 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 421, 473, 621, 1818,

“ Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 208, 421.

** Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 622,

430
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240. After this, the AFRC troops divided into two, with one group going to Makeni in
Bombali District, and a smaller group going to Port Loko District.*** The smaller
group that moved to Port Loko District settled in the region of the Okra Hills, and
became known as the “West Side Boys”.**® These troops remained in Port Loko
District until the negotiation of the Lomé Peace Accord.**®

241. The Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the individual responsibility for the
three Accused for the crimes committed by the “West Side Boys” in Port Loko
District were as follows.

242. In respect of Brima and Kanu, the Trial Chamber found that they were amongst
the group of AFRC fighters who, after the Freetown retreat, moved from the
Western District, apparently via Lunsar,*’ to Makeni in Bombali District, %3 The
Trial Chamber found that insufficient evidence had been adduced for any findings
to be made on Brima’s activities in this period,43 ? and that Kanu remained in the
Western Area until he went to Makeni.**° On the basis that it had not been proved
that either Brima or Kanu were in Port Loko District at the material time, neither
Brima nor Kanu were found individually responsible for any of the crimes in Port
Loko District.**!

243. The Prosecution does not, in this Third Ground of Appeal, appeal against these
particular findings in respect of Brima and Kanu. The Prosecution theory at trial
was, and in this appeal is, that Brima and Kanu are individually responsible for
the crimes committed in Port Loko District under Article 6(1) of the Statute on
the basis of joint criminal enterprise liability.  This is dealt with in the
Prosecution’s Fourth Ground of Appeal below.

244. In respect of Kamara, the Trial Chamber considered his role in Port Loko

District in paragraphs 475 to 500 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement. The Trial

434

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 208.

3 Ibid.

“° Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 208,

“7 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1818, 2087.

“% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 424, 484, 622.

“% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 424,

*¥% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 536-537.

“'In respect of Brima, see Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1811-1819. In respect of Kanu, see Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, paras 2082-2087.
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Chamber found that after the Freetown retreat, Kamara went from the Western
Area to Port Loko District with the group of AFRC fighters that became known as
the “West Side Boys”, and that this occurred in late February or early March
1999.%%

245. The Trial Chamber found that it was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that
during the relevant period, Kamara was the overall commander of the AFRC
forces in Port Loko District, and that he had substantial authority in this
position.**’ Tt accordingly found that Kamara was individually responsible under
Article 6(3) of the Statute for crimes committed by AFRC forces in Port Loko
District.*** However, it found, at paragraph 1955a of the Trial Chamber’s
Judgement, that the Prosecution did not adduce any evidence that Kamara
committed, ordered, planned, instigated or otherwise aided and abetted any of the
crimes committed in Port Loko District, and that the Prosecution did not prove
any of these modes of individual criminal responsibility against Kamara for the
crimes committed in Port Loko District. Accordingly, Kamara was not found
individually responsible under Article 6(1) for any of the Port Loko District
crimes.*®’

246. In this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution appeals against this last finding
in paragraph 1955a of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement as an error of law and an
error of fact. The Prosecution submits that on the Trial Chamber’s findings, or
alternatively, on the Trial Chamber’s findings and the evidence accepted by the
Trial Chamber in making those findings, the only conclusion open to any
reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara is individually responsible, under Article
6(1) of the Statute, for committing, and/or ordering, planning, instigating and/or
otherwise aiding and abetting all of the crimes committed by the AFRC troops
under his command, known as the “West Side Boys”, in Port Loko District

between February and April 1999 (See Section C below). Additionally, the

442
443
444
445

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 484, 623.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 500, 1958.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1956-1969.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1953-1955a.
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Prosecution submits that Kamara is individually responsible under Article 6(3) of
the Statute for all of those crimes. (See Section D below.)

247 The Trial Chamber’s findings on the crimes that were proved to have been
committed in Port Loko District (leaving aside the question of the individual
responsibility of the three Accused) are contained in the Trial Chamber’s
Judgement, at paragraphs 952-965 (unlawful killings), 1244-1278 (recruitment
and use of child soldiers), 1171-1187 (sexual slavery), 1390-1394 (forced labour)
and 1613-1632 (terrorising the civilian population and collective punishments).

248. In respect of unlawful killings,"*® the Trial Chamber only made findings that
three specific killing incidents had been proved to have occurred, in Manaarma,
Nonkoba,*” and Tendekum (or Tendakum)**® respectively.

249. In respect of the killing incident in Manaarma, the Trial Chamber found that
Kamara was individually responsible under Article 6(3) for the killing of an
unknown number of civilians.**° In this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution
argues that he should have been found individually responsible for those killings
under Article 6(1) of the Statute, as well as under Article 6(3). (See Section E
below)

250. However, in respect of the killing incidents in Nonkoba and Tendekum, the Trial
Chamber found that it was unable to establish beyond reasonable doubt that these
killings were attributable to the troops under the command of Kamara, and
accordingly, Kamara was not found to be individually responsible for these
incidents.*® The Prosecution does not appeal against these findings of the Trial
Chamber in respect of the Nonkoba and Tendekum killings.*”!

251. In respect of sexual slavery,”** the Trial Chamber was satisfied that the elements

of this crime were established in Port Loko District.*>®> However, the Trial

4
447

=

® Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 952-965.

The Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the unlawful killings in Nonkoba are dealt with in paragraphs
208, 236, 964, 965, 1614, 1629 and 1630 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

The Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the unlawful killings in Tendekum are dealt with in paragraphs
208, 236, 953, 1630 and 1961 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 955-963, 965, 1969.

450 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 964-965, 1952 (Nonkoba), 1961-1962 (Tendekum).

! Thus, the appeal points foreshadowed in para. 10(ii) and (iv) of the Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal are
not pursued by the Prosecution.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1171-1187.
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Chamber found that it was not established beyond a reasonable doubt that the
perpetrators of these crimes were troops under the command of Kamara.** In
this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution also appeals against this finding,
and maintains that Kamara should have been found individually responsible,
under Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) of the Statute, for acts of sexual slavery in Port
Loko District. (See Section F below)

252. In respect of forced labour,*> the Trial Chamber found that it was not established
that civilians were enslaved in February 1999 in Port Loko District.*® In this
Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution does not appeal against this finding.

253. In respect of the recruitment and use of child soldiers,”’ the Trial Chamber
found the evidence insufficient to make a finding with regards to the conscription
and/or use of child soldiers in Port Loko District between February and April
1999. In this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution does not appeal against
this finding.

254. In certain of its other Grounds of Appeal, the Prosecution submits that the Trial
Chamber erred in not finding that certain other crimes were committed by AFRC
troops in Port Loko District.*® 1In this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution
submits that to the extent that these other grounds of appeal are upheld by the
Appeals Chamber, Kamara is individually responsible, under both Article 6(1)
and Article 6(3) of the Statute, for all crimes encompassed within those other
grounds of appeal that are found to have been committed by AFRC troops under
the command of Kamara in Port Loko District. (See Section G below)

255. In respect of Count 1 (terrorising the civilian population) and Count 2 (collective
punishments), the Trial Chamber was not satisfied that the acts of violence for
which Kamara was found to have been responsible were committed against
protected persons or their property with the primary purpose of spreading terror

among the civilian population or that they served as collective punishments

453
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4
4
4
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Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1187.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1977.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1390-1394.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1394,

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1244-1278.

See in particular the Prosecution Second Ground of Appeal at paras 236-237 above.
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against protected persons.459 Kamara was therefore found not to be individually
criminally responsible on Counts 1 and 2 in respect of the crimes committed in
Port Loko District. In this Third Ground of Appeal, the Prosecution also appeals
against this finding, and maintains that Kamara should have been found
individually responsible, under Article 6(1) and Article 6(3) of the Statute, on
Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment, in respect of the crimes found to have been
committed by AFRC troops under the command of Kamara in Port Loko District.
(Sec Section H below)

756. In addition to the arguments in this present Third Ground of Appeal, the
Prosecution also argues in its Fourth Ground of Appeal below that Kamara is
individually responsible for the crimes committed in Port Loko District under

Article 6(1) of the Statute on the basis of joint criminal enterprise liability.

B. The errors in the approach of the Trial Chamber to the
evaluation of the Article 6(1) liability of Kamara

257. The Trial Chamber accepted (correctly it is submitted) that in making findings on
whether alleged crimes had been committed, or on whether the individual
responsibility of a particular Accused in respect of those crimes had been
established, the Trial Chamber was required to consider all of the evidence in the
case as a whole.*®

258. The Prosecution submits, however, that the approach taken by the Trial Chamber
in assessing the evidence in relation to the Port Loko District crimes was in fact
the same “myopic” approach that it adopted in relation to the Bombali District

Crimes and the Freetown and Western Area Crimes, and indeed, in relation to all

of the other crimes charged in the Indictment. This approach, and the reasons

459 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1630-1632.

460 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 98 (“in respect of each count charged against each of the Accused,
the Trial Chamber has determined whether it is satisfied, on the basis of the whole of the evidence, that
every element of that crime and the criminal responsibility of the Accused for it have been established
beyond reasonable doubt” (emphasis added)). See also, for instance, paras 704, 1439.
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why the Trial Chamber erred in adopting it, are dealt with in Section C of the

Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal.461

C. The individual Article 6(1) responsibility of Kamara for the
Port Loko District Crimes

(i). Introduction

759 The Prosecution submits that the Article 6(1) responsibility of Kamara for the
Port Loko District Crimes must be determined on the basis of the totality of the
evidence in the case as a whole.*”

260. The Prosecution submits that on the Trial Chamber’s findings, or alternatively, on
the Trial Chamber’s findings and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber in
making those findings, the only reasonable inference that could be drawn by any
reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara planned, ordered, instigated or otherwise

aided and abetted all of the crimes committed by the AFRC forces under his
command in Port Loko District between February 1999 and April 1999.

(ii). Planned

261. Reference is made to paragraph 51-52 above.

262. The crimes committed by the AFRC forces in Port Loko District immediately
followed the events of the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, which are the subject of
the Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal.

263. The Trial Chamber found that throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, the
AFRC forces committed massive crimes in a systematic manner.*® The Trial

Chamber found that “the occurrence of the crimes was widespread and involved a

46! See paragraphs 31-50 above
462 See paragraph 258 above.
403 See paragraphs 23-30 above.
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typical modus operandi of attacks against civilians”,”" that these crimes “were
carried out in the context of a series of attacks in which civilians were deliberately
targeted for allegedly failing to sufficiently support the AFRC”,*® and that the
primary purpose of these attacks was “to spread terror among the civilian
population”466 and to collectively punish persons “for allegedly supporting the
President Ahmed Tejan Kabbah”.*’ The Trial Chamber further found, for
instance, that immediately prior to the invasion of Freetown by the AFRC forces
in January 1999, Brima gave a general order that Freetown should be looted and
burnt down, and that anyone who opposed the AFRC troops should be considered
a collaborator and should be killed.**®
264. During the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, Kamara was the second most senior
commander of the AFRC forces involved in the campaign.‘“’9 The Trial Chamber
found that Kamara was responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes
committed by AFRC forces throughout the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.470
265. The Trial Chamber further found it to be established beyond reasonable doubt that
Kamara was the overall commander of the group of AFRC forces that went after
the Freetown retreat to Port Loko District and became known as the “West Side
Boys”,471 that he had substantial authority in this position,472 and that he had
effective control over these AFRC troops.473 The Trial Chamber further found
that in respect of the AFRC troops in Port Loko District, Kamara “gave orders to
captains and troops which were carried out; appointed and promoted

commanders; enforced discipline within the ranks and was in a position of de jure

464
465
466
467
468

469
470

471
472
473

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1731.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1568.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1571.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1573.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 398-399, 402, 473, 532, 614-615, 902, 1580, 1773, 1778, 1790,
1945, 2068.

See paragraph 98 above.

See paragraph 13 above. In the Prosecution’s First Ground of Appeal above, the Prosecution contends
that Kamara was additionally individually responsible, under Article 6(1) of the Statute, for planning,
ordering, instigating and/or aiding and abetting all of the crimes committed by AFRC forces throughout
the Bombali-Freetown Campaign.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 500, 1958.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 500 (see also paras 485-487).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1959.
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authority to other high level commanders including the Operations Commander

who reported to him”.*"

266. The Trial Chamber further found that the AFRC faction in Port Loko District had

> The evidence on

a chain of command and a planning and orders process.47

which that finding of the Trial Chamber was based indicated that Kamara was in

charge of meetings at which operations were planned, that he gave directions as to

how operations were to be conducted, and that those who went on operations

reported back to him afterwards.*’®

267. The Trial Chamber found that this group known as the “West Side Boys”
“frequently targeted and attacked the civilian population”.477 In particular, the
Trial Chamber expressly found that during the period in question “the AFRC
troops, under the overall command of ... Kamara, conducted a series of attacks on
the proximate villages” as it moved from Western Area to Gberi Bana in Port
Ioko District where it established a camp.*’®

268. The Trial Chamber’s findings with respect to the attacks committed by the AFRC
forces in Port Loko District in this period are contained in paragraphs 1613-1634
of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.*’” Its findings on these attacks were based
primarily on the evidence of witness TF1-334, whose testimony the Trial
Chamber expressly accepted,480 and the testimony of George Johnson, who the

1

Trial Chamber generally found to be a credible witness,*! and whose testimony

was found to generally corroborate that of TF1-334."% The Trial Chamber found
that this evidence was also generally corroborated by the testimony TF1-023,"

whose evidence the Trial Chamber clearly accepted elsewhere in its J udgement,*®*

4" Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1959 (footnote omitted).

45 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 625-630, 1958.
4% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 628-629.
*77 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 208
78 Trijal Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1615-1616.
47 In relation specifically to the attack on Manaarma, see also paras 954-963.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1615 (“The Trial Chamber accepts the evidence of Prosecution
Witness TF1-334”), and para. 1617 (“The Trial Chamber relies in particular on the evidence of
Prosecution Witness TF1-334...7).
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 370.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1617.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1619.
See, in particular, Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1377-1378.
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and the testimony of the Defence witness DBK-129, on whose evidence the Trial
Chamber also relied in other parts of the Judgement.”®® The Prosecution submits
that it is therefore clear that the Trial Chamber accepted the account that these
witnesses gave of the attacks committed in Port Loko District by the AFRC forces
under the command of Kamara.
269. This evidence of this conduct of the AFRC troops, and of Kamara in particular,
was as follows:
(i) The AFRC troops under the command of Kamara moved from the Western
District, and established a base in Gberi Bana, in Port Loko District. As the
AFRC troops were en route from Western District to Gberi Bana, Kamara
ordered the troops to attack the village of Mamamah, and to kill civilians
there and place their bodies on display, in order to spread fear. The order
was carried out, and the remains of murdered civilians were put on
display.*®
(i) Before the AFRC troops established their base in Gberi Bana, Kamara
ordered some of his men to first go into Gberi Bana and to make it a
“civilian free area’; this order was carried out, to the extent that at least 15
civilians were killed in the village.**’
(ii1) After the AFRC had established its base in Gber1 Bana, Kamara gave a
number of orders to attack villages in the surrounding area, in particular, an
order that those areas where ECOMOG was based should be attacked, bumnt
down and that any civilian captured should be executed.**®
(iv) From the AFRC base in Gberi Bana, Kamara ordered an operation to take
place at Makolo, and stated that the troops should destroy the entire village,
burn it down, and that any civilians that were encountered should be
executed.*®’
(v) From the AFRC base in Gberi Bana, Kamara ordered an attack on Port

Loko. During this operation, civilians were killed or amputated in villages
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See, in particular, Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 843, 954.
Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1617-1620.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1621.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1622.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1626.
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on the way to Port Loko.*® One of the attacked villages was Manaarma™®"

(as to which, see Section E below).

270. The Prosecution submits that from these findings, or alternatively on the basis of
these findings and the evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making these
findings, it could not be open to any reasonable trier of fact to conclude that any
of the crimes committed by the AFRC forces under the command of Kamara in
Port Loko were isolated, spontaneous or unplanned incidents. The only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that the crimes committed by
these AFRC forces in Port Loko District were committed by design, and were
deliberately planned. Indeed, the Trial Chamber appears to have accepted that the
crimes committed by the AFRC forces under Kamara’s command in Port Loko
District were a “continuation” of the crimes committed during the Bombali-
Freetown Campaign,*** and regarded the Port Loko District crimes as part of the
widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population of Sierra Leone
for the purposes of establishing the chapeau elements of Article 2 of the Special
Court’s Statute.*”

271. The Prosecution further submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber, or
alternatively, on the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence that the Trial
Chamber accepted, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact could
have drawn is that Kamara, either alone or with others,"* planned all of the Port
Loko District crimes. In particular, the Prosecution submits that no reasonable
trier of fact could find that Kamara’s individual responsibility for planning these
crimes had not been established beyond a reasonable doubt, once it is established

that (1) the Port Loko District crimes committed by the AFRC forces under

490
491
492

o

493

494

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1623-1625.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 954-963.

See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 236, which refers to the crimes committed by AFRC forces
during the Freetown invasion and Freetown retreat, and then states, in the final sentence, that witnesses
testified that violence against civilians “continued” over the following months in Port Loko District.

See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 236-238, in which the Trial Chamber includes the attacks in
Port Loko District by troops under the command of Kamara (Gberi Bana and Manaarma) as part of the
global violence that established the existence of a widespread and systematic attack against the civilian
population.

There is no need to prove that any other person was involved in the planning: see paragraph 51 above.
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Kamara’s command were systematic and plamned;495 (2) that the AFRC forces
who committed these systematic and planned crimes had a chain of command and

. 496
a planning and orders process;

(3) that Kamara was the overall commander of
this group of AFRC forces and had effective control over them;**” (4) that there
was evidence that Kamara was in charge of meetings at which operations of these
AFRC forces were planned;*”® (5) that Kamara specifically ordered the
commission of crimes by AFRC forces on numerous occasions;*” and (6) that
there was evidence, which the Trial Chamber clearly accepted, that after the
attack on Mamamah, as well as after the attack on Gberi Bana, when he had
knowledge of the civilians who had been killed in the attack, Kamara

congratulated his troops on a “job well done”.>®

(iii). Ordered

272. Reference is made to paragraphs 131, 135 and 137 above.

273. The evidence of Kamara ordering the commission of crimes in Port Loko District
has already been referred to in paragraph 270 above.

274. For the reasons given in paragraph 269 above, it is submitted that the Trial
Chamber accepted all of this evidence.

275. The Prosecution submits that at the very least, on the basis of the findings of the
Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber in making those
findings, the only conclusion open to a reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara
ordered the particular crimes that were the subject matter of the specific orders

that referred to in paragraphs 269 above (for instance, that by the order referred to

495

See previous paragraph.
496

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 625-630, 1958.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1959.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1963.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1959.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1617 (referring to the evidence of TF1-334, on which evidence the
Trial Chamber said that it “relies in particular”, and which evidence the Trial Chamber found (at paras

1618-1619) to be corroborated by the evidence of other witnesses); and para. 1621 (referring again to the
evidence of TF1-334).
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in paragraph 269 (i) above, Kamara ordered the killings that were committed by
the AFRC forces in Mamamabh).

276. However, the Prosecution submits that the findings of the Trial Chamber and the
evidence it accepted go further than this. The evidence which the Trial Chamber
accepted was that Kamara gave certain orders of a generalised and non-specific
nature. The evidence is that prior to the attack on Mamamah, Kamara ordered
AFRC soldiers to “decorate” Mamamah Town, and to make the area “fearful”; as
a result of this order, civilians were not only killed, but also mutilated.>®" Prior to
the attack on Gberi Bana, Kamara ordered AFRC troops to make that village a
“civilian free area”.”*> At Gberi Bana, the evidence was that Kamara also gave a
generalised order that “those areas where ECOMOG was based should be
attacked, burnt down and that any civilian captured should be executed”.””

277. The evidence before the Trial Chamber (which the Trial Chamber accepted”"")
also established that when Kamara gave the order for the attack on Port Loko, he
specified that he “did not want to see any civilians there other than those who
were captured with the troops”.>®> By giving this order, Kamara thereby
expressly also ordered the continuation of the enslavement of those civilians who
were already being held by the AFRC forces.

278. The Prosecution submits that these generalised orders were intended, and were
understood by the AFRC troops as intending, not only that certain specific crimes
should be committed, but that atrocities should be committed in a generalised
way, to include not only killings, but also amputations, burnings and other acts of
violence. The Prosecution submits that this is the only conclusion open to any
reasonable trier of fact, given especially that the troops to whom these orders

were issued were the same troops who had shortly before participated in the

Bombali-Freetown Campaign, which had been conducted by the AFRC troops on

501
502

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1617-1619.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1621.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1622.

See paragraphs 269 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1623, referring to the evidence of TF1-334, Transcript 15 June 2005,
p. 35, who testified that “He [Kamara] said he did not want to see any civilians in the camp other than the
civilians that were with us before”.
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the basis of the instructions that had been given in the Mansofinia Address and
the Orugu Address.”®

279. The Prosecution therefore submits that on the findings of the Trial Chamber and
the evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted, the only reasonable inference that
any reasonable trier of fact could draw was that Kamara is individually
responsible, under Article 6(1) of the Statute, for ordering all of the crimes that

were committed by the AFRC forces under his command in Port Loko District.

(iv). Instigated

280. Reference is made to paragraph 81 above.

281. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings made by the Trial
Chamber, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the evidence
accepted by the Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier
of fact is that Kamara, by his conduct, instigated all of the crimes committed by
the AFRC forces in Port Loko District.

282. Reference has been made in paragraphs 269, 276, 278 above to the orders that
Kamara gave for the commission of crimes by AFRC forces in Port Loko District.
The Prosecution has submitted in paragraphs 269, 276, 278 above that by these
orders, Kamara not only ordered the particular crimes that were the subject matter
of the specific orders that he gave, but that the generalised and non-specific orders
he gave were orders to commit all of the crimes that were committed by AFRC
forces under his command in Port Loko District.

283. The Prosecution submits to the extent that these orders given by Kamara did not
amount to orders to commit all of those crimes, Kamara by giving such
generalised orders, at the very least, instigated the commission of all of the other
crimes committed by the AFRC forces under his command that he did not

specifically order.

30 See paragraphs 28, 29 and 66 above.
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284. The evidence before the Trial Chamber (which the Trial Chamber accepted””’)
further established that Kamara was present during the attacks on Mamamah
Town, and that he participated in that attack.’® Furthermore, after this attack on
Mamamah, as well as after the attack on Gberi Bana, when he had knowledge of
the civilians who had been Kkilled in the attack, Kamara congratulated his troops
on a “job well done”.>”

285. The Prosecution submits that the only reasonable inference that any reasonable
trier of fact could draw from this evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted is that
all of Kamara’s conduct described above, performed in his capacity as the overall
commander of the AFRC troops in Port Loko District, incited, solicited or
otherwise induced the AFRC troops to commit all of the crimes that were

1% The Prosecution further submits that

committed by them in Port Loko District.
the only reasonable inference that could be drawn by any reasonable trier of fact
is that this instigation was a factor substantially contributing to the commission of
the crimes, and that Kamara acted with direct intent or with the awareness of the
substantial likelihood that the crimes would be committed.’'' The only
reasonable inference is that Kamara is individually responsible for “instigating”

all of the crimes that were committed in the course of that campaign.

(v). Otherwise aided and abetted

286. Reference is made to paragraphs 88-92 above
287. The Trial Chamber specifically found that Kamara was in a superior-subordinate

relationship with the AFRC troops who committed the crimes.’'? The Trial

See paragraphs 276-277 above.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1617 (referring to the evidence of TF1-334 that Kamara ordered a
house in Mamamah to be burned down and participated in the burning) and para. 1618 (referring to the
evidence of George Johnson that Kamara ordered a house in Mamamah to be burned down in which a
number of civilians including children were present, and forced a child who tried to escape from the
burning house back in to the house by gunpoint). See also Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1617,

final sentence, indicating that Kamara participated in the burning of Mile 38, which he had ordered.
See footnote 501 above.

>1% Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 769.
"' Compare Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 770.
*'? Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1958-1965.
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Chamber further expressly found that Kamara had actual or imputed knowledge
of the crimes committed in Manaarma and failed to prevent or punish the
perpetrators of those crimes, and that he was therefore individually responsible
under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed in Manaarma.>"® For
the reasons given in paragraphs 297-305 below, the Prosecution submits that the
only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact on the findings of the Trial
Chamber and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber is that Kamara is also
individually responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for all of the other
crimes committed by the AFRC forces under his command in Port Loko District.
For the reasons given in paragraphs 276-278, 284 above, in addition to giving rise
to Article 6(3) liability, Kamara’s conduct in failing to prevent or punish crimes
committed repeatedly by his subordinates in Port Loko District clearly had in the
circumstances of this case, an encouraging effect on the AFRC troops to commit
those and all subsequent crimes in Port Loko District, and this conduct therefore
also renders Kamara individually responsible, under Article 6(1), for aiding and
abetting all of those crimes.

288. The Prosecution further submits, more generally, that all of the conduct of
Kamara referred to in paragraphs 276-278 above provided encouragement and
moral support to the troops who committed these crimes and had a substantial
effect on the perpetration of all of those crimes by those troops.

289. The Prosecution therefore submits that based on all of the findings of the Trial
Chamber, or alternatively, the findings of the Trial Chamber and the evidence
accepted by the Trial Chamber, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier
of fact is that Kamara is therefore individually responsible for “aiding and

abetting” all of the crimes committed by the AFRC forces in Port Loko District.

*Y Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1966-1969.
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290. It is not suggested in this Third Ground of Appeal that Kamara is responsible for

(vi). Committed

personally committing all of the crimes committed by AFRC troops under his

1% The Prosecution position, in this Third

command in Port Loko District.
Ground of Appeal, 1s that Kamara 1s individually responsible, under Article 6(1)
of the Statute, for all of the crimes committed by the AFRC forces under his
command in Port Loko District, on the ground that he planned, ordered, instigated
and/or otherwise aided and abetted those crimes.

291. However, although it is unnecessary to determine the matter for the purposes of
the present ground of appeal, the Prosecution notes that on the evidence accepted
by the Trial Chamber, Kamara is individually responsible for personally
committing at least one of the crimes in Port Loko District. It is stated in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement that:

The Witness [George Johnson] ... testified that before the troops
pulled out of Mamama, Kamara ordered a house burnt down. The
Witness testified that [sic] were a number of civilians in the house,
including some children aged 10 to 15. The Witness was present
outside the house when one of the children trapped inside tried to

escape. Kamara forced him at gunpoint back into the house and
the child was burnt to death.’"’

292. For the reasons given in paragraph 268 above, it is clear that the Trial Chamber
accepted this evidence.

293. The Prosecution submits that on the basis of this evidence, viewed in the light of
all of the evidence in the case as a whole, the only reasonable inference that could
possibly be drawn is that Kamara, in forcing the child back into the burning house
at gunpoint, had the intention that the child would be killed in the fire, or at the
very least, that Kamara had the intention to cause the child serious bodily harm in
the reasonable knowledge that his conduct would likely result in the child’s death.

The Prosecution submits that Kamara is therefore individually responsible for

** However, if the Prosecution’s Fourth Ground of Appeal below is upheld, Kamara would be responsible

for “committing” all of those crimes by virtue of joint criminal enterprise liability.
°> Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1618.
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personally “committing” the killing of this child. In addition to ordering the
burning and killing of the children inside the house, as well as other crimes in
Port Loko District, it is submitted that this conduct of Kamara contributed to the
instigation and aiding and abetting of other crimes in Port Loko District, for the

reasons given in paragraphs 280-285 above.

(vii). Conclusion

294. The Trial Chamber ultimately found that the Prosecution “has not adduced any
evidence that the Accused Kamara committed, ordered, planned, instigated or
otherwise aided and abetted any of the crimes committed in the Port Loko
District”, and that accordingly he was not individually responsible under Article
6(1) for any of the Port Loko District crimes.

295. The Prosecution submits that this finding that the Prosecution did not adduce “any
evidence” of Kamara’s Article 6(1) liability for the Port Loko District crimes
cannot be described as anything other than wrong. There is abundant evidence of
Kamara having ordered, planned, instigated or otherwise aided and abetted these
crimes. This evidence is set out in the Trial Chamber’s Judgement, and is
described in the paragraphs above.

296. For all of the reasons given above, the Prosecution submits that on the findings of
the Trial Chamber and the evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber in reaching
those findings, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that
Kamara was the prime mover, or one of the prime movers, of all of the crimes
committed by the AFRC forces under his command in Port Loko District, and that
he is individually responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for having ordered,

planned, instigated and/or otherwise aided and abetted all of those crimes.
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D. The individual Article 6(3) responsibility of Kamara for the
Port Loko District Crimes

297 The Trial Chamber found Kamara to be individually responsible as a superior
under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed in Manaarma in Port
Loko District.’'® However, it did not make any express finding as to whether
Kamara is also individually responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for any
of the other crimes committed by AFRC forces in Port Loko District. This was
because the Trial Chamber found (erroneously, it is submitted, for the reasons
given below’'”) that the unlawful killings in Manaarma were the only crimes
committed in Port Loko District that were attributable to troops under Kamara’s
command.’"®

298. For the reasons given in paragraphs 300-305 below, the Prosecution submits that
the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that other crimes
committed in Port Loko District were also attributable to AFRC troops under the
command of Kamara. The Trial Chamber should therefore have considered the
individual Article 6(3) responsibility of Kamara for the crimes committed by
AFRC troops under his command more generally.

299 The Prosecution submits that it is unnecessary for the Appeals Chamber to remit
the case to the Trial Chamber for any further findings of fact on this issue. The
Prosecution submits that on the basis of the findings contained in the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement, or alternatively, on the basis of those findings and the
evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted in making those findings, the only
conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact is that Kamara is individually
responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for all of the crimes committed in
Port Loko District during the relevant period (February 1999 to April 1999) by
the AFRC troops under his command.

516 Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1956-1969, especially para. 1969.
317 See paragraphs 300-305 below.
%% Trjal Chamber’s Judgement, para. 1961.
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300. The Trial Chamber expressly found that there was a superior-subordinate
relationship between Kamara and the AFRC troops in Port Loko District that
became known as the “West Side Boys”.*"?

30]1. The Prosecution submits that Kamara had, throughout this period, at the very
least, imputed knowledge of all of the crimes committed by these AFRC troops.
For imputed knowledge, it is sufficient that the accused was in possession of
sufficient information, even general in nature, written or oral, of the likelihood of
illegal acts of subordinates.’?’ This information does not need to provide specific
information about unlawful acts committed or about to be committed: for
instance, it has been said in the case law that a military commander who has
received information that some of the soldiers under his command have a violent
or unstable character, or have been drinking prior to being sent on a mission, may
be considered as having the required knowledge for the purposes of Article
6(3).” 2l More pertinently, a commander’s knowledge of the criminal reputation
of his subordinates will be sufficient to meet the knowledge requirement of
Article 6(3) of the Statute if this amounted to information which would put him
on notice of the “present and real risk” of offences within the jurisdiction of the
Special Court.”?

302. In the present case, the only inference that could be drawn by any reasonable trier
of fact is that Kamara was well aware, even before the AFRC troops under his
command moved to Port Loko District, of the criminal reputation of these troops.
These were the same troops who had, immediately before moving to Port Loko
District, participated in the Bombali-Freetown Campaign, in which widespread
crimes were committed. The Trial Chamber expressly found that Kamara was
aware of the crimes committed by these troops during the Bombali-Freetown

Campaign.’ 23 The Prosecution submits that it was not open to any reasonable

5
5
5

9
0

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1958-1965.

See Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 794-796 and the authorities there cited.

Celebic¢i Appeal Judgement, paras 238, 241; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 154; Had%ihasanovié
and Kubura Rule 98bis Decision, para. 165.

Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 278, referring to Celebi¢i Appeal Judgement, paras 223 and 241;
Halilovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 68, especially footnote 164 and accompanying text.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1925, 1949.
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irier of fact to conclude otherwise than that Kamara had knowledge of the
criminal reputation of the AFRC troops under his command in Port Loko District.

303. Furthermore, the findings of the Trial Chamber and evidence accepted by the
Trial Chamber establish in any event that Kamara had actual knowledge of the
crimes committed by the AFRC troops in Port Loko District. He was the overall
commander of these troops. He specifically ordered the AFRC troops to commit
crimes,>?* he was present during the attack on Mamamah when crimes were
committed,””> and he received reports back from the troops on other crimes that

526 Even if he did not have actual

had been committed in Port Loko District.
knowledge of all of the crimes committed by the AFRC forces in Port Loko
District (and there is no evidence to suggest that he did not), on the findings of the
Trial Chamber and the evidence it accepted, the only conclusion open to any
reasonable trier of fact is that he at the very least certainly had actual knowledge
of many of these crimes, and this actual knowledge necessarily gave him imputed
knowledge of all of the other crimes committed in Port Loko District.

304. The only further fact that needs to be found to establish Kamara’s Article 6(3)
responsibility for all of the crimes committed by the troops under his command in
Port Loko District is his failure to prevent or punish the troops who committed
these crimes. In this respect, the Trial Chamber expressly found that in Port Loko
District the AFRC faction did not have a disciplinary system, and that the
imposition of discipline was solely at the discretion of Kamara.””’ There was no
evidence before the Trial Chamber that Kamara ever took any measures to
prevent or punish any of the crimes committed by the AFRC troops in Port Loko
District. On the contrary, the evidence was that he ordered the commission of

crimes,”?® and congratulated the troops on a “job well done” after attacks in which

s

b}

4 275.276. See Kayishema Trial Judgement, paras 505, 515 (where crimes are committed pursuant to the

accused’s orders, it is self-evident that the accused knew or had reason to know that the attacks were
imminent and failed to take reasonable measures to prevent them).

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, para. 476

See paragraph 271.

Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 633-634.

See paragraphs 275-276. See Kayishema Trial Judgement, paras 505, 515 (where crimes are committed
pursuant to the accused’s orders, it is self-evident that the accused knew or had reason to know that the
attacks were imminent and failed to take reasonable measures to prevent them; in such a case, the Trial
Chamber need not examine further whether the accused failed to punish the perpetrators).
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crimes were committed.”® Furthermore, for the reasons given in paragraphs 257-
296 above, it is submitted that Kamara is himself individually responsible, under
Article 6(1) of the Statute, for planning, ordering, instigating and/or aiding and
abetting all of the crimes committed by the AFRC troops under his command in
Port Loko District. The Prosecution therefore submits that it was not open to any
reasonable trier of fact to conclude otherwise than that Kamara failed to prevent
or punish any of the crimes committed by those AFRC troops in Port Loko
District.

305. The Prosecution therefore submits that on the basis of the findings contained in
the Trial Chamber’s Judgement and the evidence that the Trial Chamber accepted
in making those findings, the only conclusion open to any reasonable trier of fact
1s that Kamara is individually responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for all
of the crimes committed by AFRC forces under his command in Port Loko

District.

E. The errors in the Trial Chamber’s evaluation of the individual
responsibility of Kamara for unlawful killings

306. In respect of the charges of unlawful killings (Counts 3-5 in the Indictment), the
only killing incident in Port Loko District that the Trial Chamber found to be
attributable to troops under Kamara’s command was the incident in Manaarma.

307. The Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the Manaarma killings are dealt with
in paragraphs 208, 236, 955-963, 965, 1614, 1628 and 1630 of the Trial
Chamber’s Judgement. The Trial Chamber’s findings in respect of the individual
responsibility of Kamara for these unlawful killings is dealt with in paragraphs
1951-1977 of the Trial Chamber’s Judgement.

308. The Trial Chamber found Kamara to be individually responsible under Article

6(3) of the Statute for these unlawful killings.*® For all of the reasons given in

2 See paragraph 271.
% Trial Chamber’s Judgement, paras 1958-1969.
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paragraphs 257-296 above, the Prosecution contends that Kamara should also
have been found individually responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for
planning, ordering, instigating and/or otherwise aiding and abetting these killings.

309. Without prejudice to the general submission in the previous paragraph, the
Prosecution notes that the killings in Manaarma were committed by the AFRC
troops en route from their base in Gberi Bana to Port Loko, as they were engaged
in an operation to attack ECOMOG forces in Port Loko.”*' Witness TF1-334,
whose evidence the Trial Chamber accepted,® testified that Kamara had ordered
that attack on Port Loko, and that in so doing, he ordered that any village that the
troops reached on the way should be burnt down and civilians killed, and that he
did not want to see any civilians there other than those who were captured by the
troops.”  This alone is sufficient to establish that Kamara is individually
responsible under Article 6(1) for “ordering” the killings in Manaarma.

310. The Witness George Johnson (also known as “Junior Lion”) gave a slightly
different account. According to him, the a